
 
EXECUTIVE SERVICES  

TONBRIDGE & MALLING 

BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

Chief Executive 
Damian Roberts  
 

Gibson Building 
Gibson Drive 
Kings Hill, West Malling 
Kent ME19 4LZ 
West Malling (01732) 844522 

 

 
NB - This agenda contains proposals, 
recommendations and options. These do 
not represent Council policy or decisions 
until they have received proper 
consideration through the full decision 
making process. 

Contact: Committee Services 
committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk 

 
22 May 2025 

  

 
To: MEMBERS OF THE JOINT STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 (Copies to all Members of the Council) 

 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
Your attendance is requested at a meeting of the Joint Standards Committee to be held in 
the Council Chamber, Gibson Drive, Kings Hill on Monday, 2nd June, 2025 commencing 
at 7.30 pm.   
 
Members of the Committee are required to attend in person.  Other Members may attend 
in person or participate online via MS Teams. 
 
Information on how to observe the meeting will be published on the Council’s website. 
 

Yours faithfully 
 
DAMIAN ROBERTS 
 
Chief Executive 

  

 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 
1. Guidance on the Conduct of Meetings  
 

5 - 8 

 PART 1 - PUBLIC 
 

2. Apologies for Absence   

Public Document Pack



 
3. Notification of Substitute Members  
 

9 - 10 

4. Declarations of Interest  
 

11 - 12 

 Members are reminded of their obligation under the Council’s Code of Conduct to 
disclose any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Other Significant Interests in any 
matter(s) to be considered or being considered at the meeting. These are 
explained in the Code of Conduct on the Council’s website at Code of conduct for 
members – Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council (tmbc.gov.uk). 
  
Members in any doubt about such declarations are advised to contact Legal or 
Democratic Services in advance of the meeting. 
 

5. Minutes  
 

13 - 16 

 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the Joint Standards 
Committee held on 20 January 2025. 
 

 Matters for Decision under Delegated Powers 
 

6. Debate Not Hate  
 

17 - 136 

 This report invites the Committee to consider the Local Government Association’s 
publication on how councils can better support councillors to prevent and handle 
abuse. 
 

7. Urgent Items  
 

137 - 138 

 Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 
 

 Matters for consideration in Private 
 

8. Exclusion of Press and Public  
 

139 - 140 

 The Chairman to move that the press and public be excluded from the remainder 
of the meeting during consideration of any items the publication of which would 
disclose exempt information. 
 

 PART 2 - PRIVATE 
 

9. Urgent Items  
 

141 - 142 

 Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 
 

https://www.tmbc.gov.uk/council/code-conduct-members
https://www.tmbc.gov.uk/council/code-conduct-members


 
 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Cllr D A S Davis (Chair) 
Cllr Mrs S Bell (Vice-Chair) 

 
 Cllr K Barton 

Cllr G C Bridge 
Cllr Mrs T Dean 
Cllr S M Hammond 
Cllr J R S Lark 
 
 

Cllr B A Parry 
Cllr M R Rhodes 
Cllr R V Roud 
Cllr K B Tanner 
 

 
Parish and Town Representatives: 

 
Vacancy Addington 
Mr A Sullivan Aylesford 
Mr J Reading Borough Green 
Mr B Stead Burham 
Mr N Newman Ditton 
Mr M Williams East Peckham 
Mr O Baldock Hadlow 
Mr A Petty Kings Hill 
Mrs W Palmer Platt 
Mr M Carboni Plaxtol 
Prof M McKinlay Ryarsh 
Ms K Mordecai-Wolfe Snodland 
Mr D Gaunt Trottiscliffe 
Mr D Beach Wrotham  
  
Mr D Mercier Independent Person 
Mr P Cummins Independent Person 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



GUIDANCE ON HOW MEETINGS WILL BE CONDUCTED 

 

(1) Most of the Borough Council meetings are livestreamed, unless there is exempt 

or confidential business being discussed,  giving residents the opportunity to 

see decision making in action.  These can be watched via our YouTube 

channel.  When it is not possible to livestream meetings they are recorded and 

uploaded as soon as possible:  

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCPp-IJlSNgoF-ugSzxjAPfw/featured  

(2) There are no fire drills planned during the time a meeting is being held.  For the 

benefit of those in the meeting room, the fire alarm is a long continuous bell and 

the exits are via the doors used to enter the room.  An officer on site will lead 

any evacuation. 

(3) Should you need this agenda or any of the reports in a different format, or have 

any other queries concerning the meeting, please contact Democratic Services 

on committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk in the first instance. 

 

Attendance: 

- Members of the Committee are required to attend in person and be present in the 

meeting room.  Only these Members are able to move/ second or amend motions, 

and vote. 

- Other Members of the Council can join via MS Teams and can take part in any 

discussion and ask questions, when invited to do so by the Chair, but cannot 

move/ second or amend motions or vote on any matters. Members participating 

remotely are reminded that this does not count towards their formal committee 

attendance.  

- Occasionally, Members of the Committee are unable to attend in person and may 

join via MS Teams in the same way as other Members.  However, they are unable 

to move/ second or amend motions or vote on any matters if they are not present 

in the meeting room. As with other Members joining via MS Teams, this does not 

count towards their formal committee attendance. 

- Officers can participate in person or online. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCPp-IJlSNgoF-ugSzxjAPfw/featured
mailto:committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk


- Members of the public addressing an Area Planning Committee should attend in 

person.  However, arrangements to participate online can be considered in certain 

circumstances.  Please contact committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk for further 

information. 

Before formal proceedings start there will be a sound check of Members/Officers in 

the room.  This is done as a roll call and confirms attendance of voting Members. 

Ground Rules: 

The meeting will operate under the following ground rules: 

- Members in the Chamber should indicate to speak in the usual way and use the 

fixed microphones in front of them.  These need to be switched on when speaking 

or comments will not be heard by those participating online.  Please switch off 

microphones when not speaking. 

- If there any technical issues the meeting will be adjourned to try and rectify them.  

If this is not possible there are a number of options that can be taken to enable the 

meeting to continue.  These will be explained if it becomes necessary. 

For those Members participating online: 

- please request to speak using the ‘chat  or hand raised function’; 

- please turn off cameras and microphones when not speaking; 

- please do not use the ‘chat function’ for other matters as comments can be seen 

by all; 

- Members may wish to blur the background on their camera using the facility on 

Microsoft teams. 

- Please avoid distractions and general chat if not addressing the meeting 

- Please remember to turn off or silence mobile phones 

Voting: 

Voting may be undertaken by way of a roll call and each Member should verbally 

respond For, Against, Abstain.  The vote will be noted and announced by the 

Democratic Services Officer. 

Page 6

mailto:committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk


Alternatively, votes may be taken by general affirmation if it seems that there is 

agreement amongst Members.  The Chairman will announce the outcome of the vote 

for those participating and viewing online. 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Joint Standards Committee 

 

 Conservative Liberal Democratic Green Ind. Kent Alliance 

 

Labour 

1 

 

Robin Betts Bill Banks Lee Athwal   

2 

 

Matt Boughton Tim Bishop Anna Cope   

3 

 

Martin Coffin James Clokey Mark Hood   

4 

 

Des Keers Frani Hoskins Robert Oliver   

5 

 

Colin Williams Michelle Tatton Stacey Pilgrim    

 

  

 

 

May 2025 

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 3



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Declarations of interest 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 

 
 

TONBRIDGE AND MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

JOINT STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES 
 

Monday, 20th January, 2025 
 

Present: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cllr D A S Davis (Chair), Cllr K Barton, Cllr M D Boughton (substitute), 
Cllr G C Bridge, Cllr J Clokey (substitute), Cllr M A Coffin (substitute), 
Cllr B A Parry, Cllr R V Roud, Cllr K B Tanner and Cllr C Williams 
(substitute).   
 
Together with parish/town representatives Mr W Stead                       
(Burham Parish Council), Mr N Newman (Ditton Parish Council),                 
Mr O Baldock (Hadlow Parish Council), Mrs W Palmer (Platt Parish 
Council), Mr M Carboni (Plaxtol Parish Council) and Prof M McKinlay               
(Ryarsh Parish Council).  
 
Cllr M Taylor* was also present pursuant to Council Procedure Rule    
No 15.21. 
  
(*participated via MS Teams) 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Mrs S Bell 
(Vice-Chair), Mrs T Dean, J R S Lark and M R Rhodes.   
 
PART 1 - PUBLIC 
 

ST 25/1    NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  
 
Notification of substitute Members were recorded as set out below: 
 

 Cllr Boughton substituted for Cllr Bell 

 Cllr Clokey substituted for Cllr Dean 

 Cllr Williams substituted for Cllr Lark 

 Cllr Coffin substituted for Cllr Rhodes 
 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rules 17.5 to 17.9 these 
Councillors had the same rights as the ordinary member of the 
committee for whom they were substituting. 
 

ST 25/2    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest made in accordance with the 
Code of Conduct. 
 
 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



JOINT STANDARDS COMMITTEE 20 January 2025 
 
 

 
2 

 

ST 25/3    MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED:  That the Minutes of the meeting of the Joint Standards 
Committee held on 5 June 2024 be approved as a correct record and 
signed by the Chairman. 
 
DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 
 

ST 25/4    CONSULTATION - STRENGTHENING THE STANDARDS AND 
CONDUCT FRAMEWORK FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES IN 
ENGLAND  
 
The report of the Monitoring Officer presented the consultation on 
strengthening the standards and conduct framework, published by the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government on                      
18 December 2024 (attached at Annex 1), together with a proposed 
response for approval by the Committee (attached at Annex 2). 
 
The consultation sought views on introducing measures to strengthen 
the standards and conduct regime in England and ensure consistency of 
approach amongst council’s investigating serious breaches of their 
member codes of conduct, including the introduction of the power of 
suspension. Members discussed the proposed responses in detail and 
their comments were noted.  In particular, Members raised concern in 
relation to Question 24, i.e. that a suspended councillor be banned from 
council premises and the use of council facilities withdrawn in cases 
where deemed appropriate, and suggested that this should not be 
applied to a member who was the subject of an interim suspension.    
 
RESOLVED: That the Borough Council’s response to the consultation, 
as set out in Annex 2, be approved subject to the comments made. 
 
MATTERS SUBMITTED FOR INFORMATION 
 

ST 25/5    COMPLAINTS UPDATE  
 
The Committee received an update on the complaints made to the 
Monitoring Officer that a Member may have failed to comply with their 
authority’s code of conduct. 
 
Details of the complaints received since the last meeting of the Joint 
Standards Committee were set out in Annex 1.  Three complaints had 
been made to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman in 
relation to decisions reached by the Monitoring Officer.  Two of these 
cases related to decisions made by the Monitoring Officer during 2024 
with the third relating to a decision made during 2023.  In all three cases, 
the Ombudsman had indicated that it would not investigate the 
complaints because there was insufficient evidence of fault.  
 
 

Page 14



JOINT STANDARDS COMMITTEE 20 January 2025 
 
 

 
3 

 

 
 
MATTERS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PRIVATE 
 

ST 25/6    EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
There were no items considered in private. 
 
 

The meeting ended at 8.32 pm 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



   

JST - MTUDP P1-Public 02 June 2025 

 

 

 

Debate Not Hate 

1 Summary and Purpose of Report 

1.1 This report invites the Committee to consider the Local  Government Association’s 

publication on how councils can better support councillors to prevent and handle 

abuse. 

2 Corporate Strategy Priority Area 

2.1 Efficient services for all our residents, maintaining an effective council. 

2.2 It is imperative that Councillors are able to perform their duties in a safe and 

supportive environment. Abuse and intimidation of those performing public duties 

will not only undermine the effective discharge of those duties but will also act as 

a deterrent to anyone seeking election or re-election. 

3 Recommendations 

3.1 The Committee is asked to:- 

(1) Note the contents of this report and accompanying annexes; 

(2) Note the progress made in completion of the self-assessment toolkit at Annex 

3; 

(3) Agree the improvement steps to address the gaps in the self-assessment 

toolkit set out in the summary at Annex 4.  

(4) Consider setting up a panel of Members to oversee delivery of the 

improvement steps at Annex 4. 

Joint Standards Committee 

 

02 June 2025 

Part 1 - Public  

Matters Taken Under Delegated Powers 

Cabinet Member Not applicable 

Responsible Officer Adrian Stanfield, Monitoring Officer 

Report Author Adrian Stanfield, Monitoring Officer 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



 2  
 

JST - MTUDP P1-Public 02 June 2025 

 

(5) Undertake a survey as set out at Annex 4 to gain a better understanding of the 

extent to which all TMBC councillors have suffered abuse and intimidation. 

(6) Agree that the Borough Council monitors any reports of abusive and 

threatening behaviour to determine whether any protected characteristic group 

is affected more or less than any other. 

4 Introduction and Background 

4.1 In August 2024 the Local Government Association (LGA) published the results of 

an online survey sent to all councillors in England and Wales to investigate the 

extent to which they had experienced abuse or intimidation due to their councillor 

role. This survey expanded on a previous ‘Debate Not Hate’ survey and formed 

part of an ongoing campaign by the LGA to tackle ongoing concerns about abuse 

and intimidation in public life.  

4.2 In the Councillors guide to handling harassment, abuse and intimidation, the LGA 

use the following definitions: - 

Abuse 

4.3 The Home Office and the Department of Health Guidance on Developing and 

Implementing Multi-agency Policies and Procedures to Protect Vulnerable Adults 

from Abuse define abuse as a single act or repeated physical, verbal or 

psychological acts that violate an individual’s human and civil rights. Some cases 

of abuse constitute criminal offences. For example, physical, psychological or 

sexual assault, theft, fraud and gender and racial discrimination. 

Harassment 

4.4 The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 indicates that someone’s actions 

amount to harassment when they make the victim feel distressed, humiliated, 

threatened or fearful of further violence. The main goal of harassment is to 

persuade victims either not to do something that they are entitled or required to do 

or to do something that they are not obliged to do. Actions listed under the 

Protection from Harassment Act include, but are not limited to: 

 phone calls 

 letters 

 emails 

 visits 

 stalking 

 verbal abuse of any kind, including on social media 

 threats 

 damage to property 

 bodily harm 

 

Page 18

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/194272/No_secrets__guidance_on_developing_and_implementing_multi-agency_policies_and_procedures_to_protect_vulnerable_adults_from_abuse.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/194272/No_secrets__guidance_on_developing_and_implementing_multi-agency_policies_and_procedures_to_protect_vulnerable_adults_from_abuse.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/194272/No_secrets__guidance_on_developing_and_implementing_multi-agency_policies_and_procedures_to_protect_vulnerable_adults_from_abuse.pdf


 3  
 

JST - MTUDP P1-Public 02 June 2025 

 

Such actions amount to harassment when they occur more than once. 

The Commonwealth Parliamentary Association Anti-Harassment Policy 

Guidelines defines coercion or intimidation as a form of harassment. Coercion is 

defined as the action of forcefully persuading or threatening an individual to do 

something which includes behaviours, such as blackmail, extortion, threats or 

physical and sexual assaults could also be considered as a form of harassment. 

 

Intimidation 

4.5 Public intimidation is defined as “words and/or behaviour intended or likely to 

block, influence or deter participation in public debate or causing alarm or distress 

which could lead to an individual wanting to withdraw from public life”. This 

includes actions of abuse, harassment and intimidation such as: verbal abuse; 

physical attacks; being stalked followed or loitered around; threats of harm; 

distribution of misinformation; character assassination; inappropriate emails, 

letters, phone calls and communications on social media; sexual harassment or 

sexual assault; and other threatening behaviours, including malicious 

communications such as poison pen letters, indecent or grossly offensive emails 

or graphic pictures that aim to cause distress or anxiety 

4.6 A copy of the LGA survey outcome is attached as Annex 1 and the key findings 

set out below.  

73 per cent of respondents reported experiencing abuse or intimidation in the 

past 12 months.  

49 per cent of respondents reported that abuse and intimidation had increased in 

the past 12 months. 

57 per cent of respondents reported that their authority’s arrangements for 

protecting councillors were very or fairly effective. 

23 per cent of respondents had reported an incident of abuse or intimidation to 

the police.  

22 per cent of respondents had experienced a threat of violence due to their role, 

whilst 10 per cent had experienced a threat of damage to their property, and 5 per 

cent had experienced actual damage to property. 

19 per cent of respondents had experienced abuse or intimidation relating to a 

protected characteristic. Sex was the most commonly cited characteristic for 

which respondents had suffered abuse or intimidation. 

4.7 The Committee is asked to note that of the 16,774 councillors invited to take part 

in the survey, a total of 1,734 responses were received – a response rate of 10 

per cent. This level of response means that these respondents should not 

necessarily be taken to be widely representative of the views of all councillors. 

Page 19

https://www.cpahq.org/media/1gyl5xhi/cwp-anti_harassment-guidelines.pdf
https://www.cpahq.org/media/1gyl5xhi/cwp-anti_harassment-guidelines.pdf


 4  
 

JST - MTUDP P1-Public 02 June 2025 

 

Rather, they are a snapshot of the views of this particular group of respondents. If 

Members wish to seek the views of councillors more locally, it is suggested that 

the questions posed in the LGA survey (Annex 5) could be used as a basis for a 

survey. 

4.8 Shortly before the LGA survey the Borough Council gave consideration to a 

Notice of Motion (24/004) submitted by Cllr Clokey in relation to the LGA Debate 

Not Hate Campaign. As set out in the Notice of Motion, Cllr Clokey proposed that: 

 the Chair of the Joint Standards Committee be responsible for co-

ordinating the completion of this toolkit;  and 

 the Joint Standards Committee review progress against the measures 

supplied in the toolkit on an annual basis. 

4.9 This was supported unanimously by Members.  However, it was also recognised 

that elements of the campaign could be applied to members of the public and 

could be reviewed by a Scrutiny Select Committee if appropriate. 

4.10 Attached to this report are a number of further annexes. The first of these (Annex 

2) is a copy of the LGA publication ‘Debate Not Hate: Ending abuse in public life 

for Councillors’. The second (Annex 3) is a copy of the LGA toolkit ‘Ending abuse 

in public life self-assessment’ (with a summary of the improvement steps at 

Annex 4) and the final annex (Annex 5) is a copy of the survey questions used by 

the LGA, modified to allow for use by TMBC. 

4.11 Within the publication at Annex 2, the LGA’s project researchers identified the 

following three key challenges to supporting councillors with these issues:- 

Challenge 1: Councillors feel vulnerable to abuse and ill-equipped or supported to 

handle abuse, harassment, and intimidation. Councillors are informed of their risk 

but have limited knowledge of tools for effective conflict resolution and aftercare. 

Challenge 2: Lack of clear process around reporting instances of abuse, 

harassment and intimidation to the council. Councillors don't know who to turn to 

when an incident occurs. There is limited understanding about the role and help 

that supporting officers can provide. 

Challenge 3: There is uneven engagement and response from the police to 

abuse and harassment of councillors. Some police forces are sympathetic, some 

others are not or consider low-risk abuse as something insignificant. There is 

limited advice tailored for elected officers in local politics and in occasions, a lack 

of understanding of why they need special measures 

4.12 In response to these challenges, the LGA proposed five guiding principles and 

three recommendations for councils, central government, regulators and police 

forces across England to consider, as follows:- 

Page 20



 5  
 

JST - MTUDP P1-Public 02 June 2025 

 

Principles for support agencies 

1. Zero-tolerance approach to abuse: Establish and enforce a strict policy that 

clearly outlines expectations for interactions and promotes respectful debate. 

 

2. Clarity of process and responsibility: Clearly define the process for raising 

concerns and assign responsible individuals within the council to provide support 

to councillors. 

 

3. Relationships with local police: Proactively develop strong relationships with 

the police to enhance coordination and foster mutual understanding of abuse 

affecting councillors and the role of police in addressing it. 

 

4. Tailored risk assessments: Consider individual councillors' needs and 

proactively identify risks through dynamic and periodic risk assessments. 

 

5. Prioritise councillor wellbeing: Recognise and consider how your council can 

support councillor wellbeing and address the negative impacts of personal attacks 

and hurtful commentaries 

Recommendations 

Recommendation 1: The Government and Ofcom should take steps to ensure 

that harmful and abusive behaviour does not continue unrestricted online, 

including developing clear guidance for social media and other online service 

providers on their obligations to mitigate the risks of online abuse and how this 

may be best achieved; and that the experience of elected members is considered 

in any new Ofcom guidance mandated by the Online Safety Bill. 

Recommendation 2: The Government should work with the police to set out clear 

and consistent guidance on the role of policing in addressing abuse, intimidation 

and harassment of elected members. This should include expert capacity to 

monitor crime associated with elected members and act as a single point of 

contact for both councils and councillors. 

Recommendation 3: The Government should widen the scope of the Defending 

Democracy Programme to explicitly include the safety, security and wellbeing of 

locally elected politicians, rather than focusing solely on national politicians and 

foreign interference. 

4.13 In order to ensure that the Borough Council takes appropriate steps to address 

the issues raised in the LGA publication, I have completed the self-assessment 

toolkit at Annex 3.  I am not in a position to complete this self-assessment on 

behalf of any of the town or parish councils within the Borough but Clerks and 

Members of those councils are invited to carry out a corresponding exercise on 

behalf of their organisations. 

Page 21



 6  
 

JST - MTUDP P1-Public 02 June 2025 

 

4.14 The self-assessment summary (Annex 4) identifies that there are further steps 

that the Borough Council may wish to consider taking as a means of tackling and 

mitigating the impact and risks of abuse and intimidation that councillors may 

encounter as part of their role and supporting them to be safe. 

Digital citizenship 

4.15 To support councillors and candidates in their online communications, the LGA 

has developed a range of guidance and tools. Whilst the LGA recognises the 

importance of social media for councillors to “share political information and 

engage with other councillors, support officers and residents.” It also recognises 

that “it also opens the door for abuse, harassment and intimidation.”  

4.16 As part of the ‘Digital Citizenship’ the LGA have issued the following infographics 

which can be downloaded and saved by members or pinned to their social media 

profiles:- 

Rules of engagement: Outlining the ways in which to communicate activities as a 

councillor or as a candidate. The LGA states that the “rules are designed to give all 

users a clear ‘code’ by which they should operate, with a clear statement that 

users can be blocked, or posts deleted, if they fail to participate in a civil manner.” 

Handling online abuse: A quick reference guide which helps to guide councillors 

to “understand the steps they can take to protect themselves online, how to 

respond to abusive messages, and encourages councillors to seek support where 

needed.” 

Mis and disinformation: The infographic sets out five steps to assist councillors 

in avoiding or spreading mis and disinformation. The LGA states that the “steps 

should help councillors be confident in what they are posting, sharing and liking 

online.” 

Digital citizenship: support and resources for councillors | Local Government 

Association 

4.17 The LGA also offers practical advice for handling online abuse:- 

Practical advice for handling online abuse | Local Government Association 

4.18 A presentation from a recent LGA seminar ‘Handling online abuse and 

intimidation’ can also be viewed via the above page. 

4.19 The Committee is also asked to note ‘Glitch’ an award-winning UK charity that is 

working to end online abuse – particularly against women and marginalised 

people. Founded in 2017 by then local politician, Seyi Akiwowo, after she received 

a flood of abuse when a video of her speech at the European Parliament went 

viral. Through training, research, workshops, and programs, Glitch aims to build 

an online world that is safer for all. 

Page 22

https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/guidance-and-resources/civility-public-life-resources-councillors/handling-abuse-and-0
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/guidance-and-resources/civility-public-life-resources-councillors/handling-abuse-and-0
https://www.local.gov.uk/practical-advice-handling-online-abuse


 7  
 

JST - MTUDP P1-Public 02 June 2025 

 

Glitch 

5 Proposal 

5.1 Members will note from the summary and forward plan attached at Annex 4 that a 

number of improvement actions have been identified to address the gaps in the 

toolkit. It is proposed that the actions identified at Annex 4 are taken forward, with 

a further report submitted to a future meeting of this Committee in order to review 

progress. Alternatively, Members may wish to consider setting up a panel to 

oversee delivery of the identified actions. 

6 Other Options 

6.1 No alternative options have been identified at this stage. 

7 Financial and Value for Money Considerations 

7.1 None arising from this report. 

8 Risk Assessment 

8.1 Having a robust approach towards the abuse and intimidation of elected members 

reduces the risk of councillors being exposed to such behaviour and gives a clear 

message to all about our expectations and acceptable forms of conduct.  

9 Legal Implications 

9.1 There are no specific legal implications arising from this report. The issues 

referred to in this report will assist the Council in complying with its obligations 

under section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 to promote and maintain high 

standards of conduct. 

9.2 Incidents of abuse and intimidation may amount to criminal behaviour. The 

Debate Not Hate Campaign is intended to reduce incidents of abuse and 

intimidation and therefore have a positive impact on crime and disorder. 

10 Cross Cutting Issues 

10.1 Climate Change and Biodiversity 

10.1.1 Adaptation and resilience have not been considered. 

10.1.2 Climate change advice has not been sought in the preparation of the options and 

recommendations in this report.  

 

 

 

Page 23

https://glitchcharity.co.uk/


 8  
 

JST - MTUDP P1-Public 02 June 2025 

 

10.2 Equalities and Diversity 

10.2.1 The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance 

to the substance of the Equality Act. Abuse and intimidation can happen to any 

councillor, irrespective of their sex, race or any other protected characteristic.  

10.2.2 It is however recommended that the Borough Council monitors any reports of 

abusive and threatening behaviour to determine whether any protected 

characteristic group is affected more or less than any other. 

 

Background Papers None 

Annexes Annex 1 – LGA Survey ‘Debate Not Hate’ Outcomes August 

2024 

Annex 2 – LGA publication ‘Debate Not Hate: Ending abuse 

in public life for Councillors’ 

Annex 3 – LGA toolkit ‘Ending abuse in public life self-

assessment’ 

Annex 4 – Summary and Improvement Plan 

Annex 5 – Survey questions 

 

Page 24



Debate Not Hate 
Survey of councillors, August 

2024

Annex 1

Page 25



Icons in the cover image and throughout the report are made by Freepik from 
https://www.flaticon.com/  

To view more research from the Local Government Association Research and 
Information team please visit: https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/research

Page 26

https://www.flaticon.com/
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/research


 

1 

 

Contents 
Summary ................................................................................................................ 2 

Background ......................................................................................................... 2 

Key findings ........................................................................................................ 2 

Introduction ............................................................................................................. 3 

Debate Not Hate Survey 2024 ................................................................................ 5 

Councillor profiling ............................................................................................... 5 

Feeling at risk as a councillor .............................................................................. 7 

Support from the local authority .......................................................................... 9 

Abuse and intimidation during campaign periods .............................................. 11 

Abuse and intimidation over the last 12 months ................................................ 12 

Involvement of the police .................................................................................. 18 

Experiences of damage and violence ............................................................... 18 

Protected characteristics ................................................................................... 20 

Contact at home ................................................................................................ 25 

Home address in public domain ........................................................................ 27 

Home modifications ........................................................................................... 29 

Awareness of the Debate Not Hate campaign .................................................. 32 

Further comments ............................................................................................. 33 

Annex A: Questionnaire ........................................................................................ 37 

Page 27



2 

Summary 
Background 
In August 2024, the Local Government Association (LGA) sent an online survey to all 

councillors in England and Wales to investigate the extent to which they had 

experienced abuse or intimidation due to their councillor role. This survey expanded 

on the 2023 Debate Not Hate survey, which explored how abuse and intimidation of 

councillors has changed compared to the 2022 Councillors’ Census. A total of 1734 

councillors responded to the 2024 survey – a response rate of 10 per cent – which 

was higher than the 5 per cent response rate in 2023. The responding councillors 

represented a wide cross-section of political affiliations and levels of experience.   

Key findings 
• 73 per cent of respondents reported experiencing abuse or intimidation in 

the past 12 months. This was lower than the 2023 survey but remains in line 

with the 2022 Councillors’ Census.

• 49 per cent of respondents reported that abuse and intimidation had 

increased in the past 12 months.

• 57 per cent of respondents reported that their authority’s arrangements for 

protecting councillors were very or fairly effective.

• 23 per cent of respondents had reported an incident of abuse or 

intimidation to the police.

• 22 per cent of respondents had experienced a threat of violence due to 

their role, whilst 10 per cent had experienced a threat of damage to their 

property, and 5 per cent had experienced actual damage to property.

• 19 per cent of respondents had experienced abuse or intimidation relating 

to a protected characteristic. Sex was the most commonly cited 

characteristic for which respondents had suffered abuse or intimidation.

Page 28



 

3 

 

Introduction 
The Local Government Association launched its “Debate Not Hate” campaign in 

2022 following rising concerns about abuse and intimidation in public life, including 

findings in the 2022 Councillors’ Census that seven in 10 councillors reported having 

experienced abuse or intimidation. The campaign aims to raise awareness of the 

damaging impact of intimidation on local democracy and lobby for changes to 

relevant legislation and improved protections for councillors.  

The following survey was the second iteration of the Debate Not Hate survey – the 

first having taken place in June 2023 – and aimed to understand the extent to which 

abuse and intimidation has changed since both the 2022 Councillors’ Census and 

since last year’s iteration of the survey, as well as the nature of this abuse and 

intimidation in greater detail.  

Methodology 
The LGA’s Research and Information Team sent an online survey to all councillors of 

all political affiliations belonging to principal authorities in England and Wales. One 

councillor’s office requested a paper copy to be delivered to the councillor’s home 

address, and this was completed and returned via post. The survey was open for just 

over three weeks, from 5 August to 27 August 2024.  

Of the 16,774 councillors invited to take part in the survey, a total of 1,734 responses 

were received – a response rate of 10 per cent. This level of response means that 

these respondents should not necessarily be taken to be widely representative of the 

views of all councillors. Rather, they are a snapshot of the views of this particular 

group of respondents. 

In addition, the following should be considered when interpreting the findings of this 

survey: 

Page 29



 

4 

 

• Where tables and figures report the base, the description refers to the group 

of people who were asked the question. Please note that bases can vary 

throughout the survey. 

• Throughout the report, percentages may not appear to add up to exactly 

100 per cent due to rounding. 

• Throughout the report, the term ‘abuse’ is used to describe abuse and 

intimidation. 

 

  

Page 30



 

5 

 

Debate Not Hate Survey 2024 
This section contains analysis of the full results from the survey.  

Councillor profiling 
Respondents were first asked to indicate the type of council of which they are a 

member. Respondents were able to select more than one option, as councillors are 

able to sit on more than one council. Only principle council members were invited to 

participate, however, respondents could indicate if they also sit on town, parish, or 

community councils. The full results are shown in Table 1, and demonstrate that the 

sample represented a broad range of council types, with the percentage of 

responses per council type broadly in line with the percentage of overall councillors 

per council type, noting a slight overrepresentation of county councillors. 

Table 1: Council type 

 
 

Percentage of 
responses 

Percentage of all 
councillors 

District 42% 45% 

County 18% 10% 

London borough 9% 12% 

Metropolitan borough 12% 14% 

Unitary 22% 20% 

Town council 14% - 

Parish/community council 9% - 

Other 1% - 

Base: all respondents (1734). Please note: respondents were able to select more 

than one option.  

Page 31



 

6 

 

Respondents were then asked to indicate their political affiliation. As Table 2 shows, 

39 per cent of respondents were affiliated with the Labour Party, which is broadly in 

line with the proportion of Labour councillors overall. Twenty-one per cent of 

respondents were affiliated with the Conservative Party, who comprise 28 per cent of 

all councillors, whilst 19 per cent of respondents were affiliated with the Liberal 

Democrats, who comprise 17 per cent of all councillors. Eight per cent of 

respondents were affiliated with the Green Party, comprising 5 per cent of 

councillors, whilst 1 per cent were affiliated with Plaid Cymru, in line with the overall 

proportion of Plaid Cymru councillors. Independent councillors and all other political 

groups comprise 13 per cent of all councillors, in line with their response rate to the 

survey. A handful of respondents were affiliated with Reform UK, however these 

amounted to less than half a per cent.  

Table 2: Political affiliation 

 
 

Percentage of 
responses 

Percentage of all 
councillors 

Labour 39% 36% 

Conservatives 21% 28% 

Liberal Democrats 19% 17% 

Green Party 8% 5% 

Plaid Cymru 1% 1% 

Independent and all other groups 13% 13% 

Base: all respondents (1734).  

Respondents were then asked how long they had been serving as a councillor. The 

survey was launched three months after a set of local elections (May 2024) and 12 

per cent of respondents had been serving for less than a year or were newly elected 

in May 2024. Around a fifth of respondents had been serving for between one and 

two years (19 per cent), whilst a further fifth had been serving for between two and 

Page 32



 

7 

 

five years (19 per cent). Half of all respondents (50 per cent) had been serving for 

five years or more. The full results are shown in Table 3. 

Table 3: Length of time serving as a councillor 

 
 

Per cent 

Less than one year / newly elected in May 12% 

1 to <2 years 19% 

2 to <5 years 19% 

5 years or more 50% 

Base: all respondents (1734).  

Feeling at risk as a councillor 
Respondents were asked how often, if at all, they felt personally at risk when fulfilling 

their role as councillor. This question was asked in the 2022 Councillors’ Census, 

and both iterations of the Debate Not Hate survey. The results for all three years are 

shown in Table 4.  

The table shows that in August 2024, 4 per cent of respondents reported feeling 

frequently personally at risk when fulfilling their role as councillor, representing a 

decrease of four percentage points compared to June 2023 but remaining in line with 

the 2022 Census. A quarter of respondents (27 per cent) reported feeling 

occasionally personally at risk in August 2024, compared to a third of respondents 

(33 per cent) in June 2023, and 24 per cent of respondents in 2022. A similar 

proportion of respondents reported feeling rarely at risk personally in August 2024 

(43 per cent) as in June 2023 (41 per cent) and in 2022 (45 per cent). The proportion 

of respondents who reported that they never felt at risk increased from 18 per cent in 

June 2023 to 26 per cent in August 2024, but remains in line with the 2022 Census 

(27 per cent).  

Page 33



 

8 

 

Table 4: How often, if at all, do you feel personally at risk 
when fulfilling your role as a councillor? 

 
 

2022 Councillors’ 
Census 

2023 survey 2024 survey 

Some level of 
risk 

73% 82% 74% 

Frequently 4% 8% 4% 

Occasionally 24% 33% 27% 

Rarely 45% 41% 43% 

Never 27% 18% 26% 

Base: all respondents: 2022 (5055), 2023 (814), 2024 (1734).  

Table 5 illustrates the impact of length of service on the level of personal risk felt by 

respondents. The results show that respondents who had been serving for five or 

more years were more likely to feel some level of personal risk, with more than three 

quarters (76 per cent) reporting that they feel personally at risk frequently, 

occasionally, or rarely when fulfilling their role as councillor, compared to two thirds 

(67 per cent) of respondents who had been serving for less than a year. The results 

suggest a correlation between length of service and likelihood to feel personally at 

risk, as the longer a respondent had been serving as a councillor, the more likely 

they are to feel some level of personal risk. The full breakdown by length of service 

is shown in Table 5. 

Page 34



 

9 

 

Table 5: How often, if at all, do you feel personally at risk 
when fulfilling your role as a councillor? (2024 survey) 

 
 

Less than 1 
year  

Between 1 
and 2 years 

Between 2 
and 5 years 

5 or more 
years 

Some level of risk 67% 70% 75% 76% 

Frequently 4% 3% 5% 4% 

Occasionally 20% 23% 28% 29% 

Rarely 43% 44% 43% 43% 

Never 33% 30% 25% 24% 

Base: all respondents: less than 1 year (203), between 1 and 2 years (325), between 

2 and 5 years (333), more than 5 years (873).  

Support from the local authority 
Respondents were then asked how effective or not they thought their authority’s 

arrangements were for protecting them whilst they fulfil their role as councillor. This 

question was also across all three surveys, and the results are shown in Table 6.  

The table shows that compared to the 2023 survey, there has been an increase of 

13 percentage points in the proportion of respondents reporting that their authority’s 

protection arrangements were very or fairly effective. In August 2024, 57 per cent of 

respondents reported that their authority’s protection arrangements were very or 

fairly effective, compared to 44 per cent in June 2023. There was also a decrease in 

the proportion of respondents reporting that the arrangements were not very or not at 

all effective; 17 per cent of respondents reported that the arrangements were not 

very effective in August 2024 compared to 25 per cent in June 2023, whilst the 

proportion reporting that their authority’s arrangements were not at all effective 

decreased from 15 per cent in June 2023 to 8 per cent in August 2024. Table 6 also 

compares these results with the Census, however the Census did not include a 

Page 35



 

10 

 

“don’t know” option for this question, meaning that the results cannot be directly 

compared.  

Table 6: How effective or not do you think are your 
authority’s arrangements for protecting you personally as 
you fulfil your role as a councillor? 

 
 

2022 Councillors’ 
Census 

2023 survey 2024 survey 

Very or fairly effective 64% 44% 57% 

Very effective 15% 9% 14% 

Fairly effective 49% 34% 43% 

Not very effective 25% 25% 17% 

Not at all effective 12% 15% 8% 

Don’t know - 17% 18% 

Base: all respondents serving for at least a year: 2022 (5055), 2023 (654), 2024 

(1531). 

Table 7 illustrates the impact of length of service on respondents’ perception of their 

authority’s protection arrangements. The table shows that respondents who had 

been serving for five or more years were more likely to report that their authority’s 

arrangements for protection were very or fairly effective, compared to those who had 

been serving for less than five years. The shorter the length of service, the more 

likely the respondent was to be unsure how effective the arrangements were, with 

over a quarter (26 per cent) of respondents who had served for between one and 

two years unsure, compared to 14 per cent of those serving for five or more years. 

The full results for this breakdown are shown in Table 7. 

Page 36



 

11 

 

Table 7: How effective or not do you think are your 
authority’s arrangements for protecting you personally as 
you fulfil your role as a councillor? (2024 survey) 

 
 

Between 1 and 
2 years 

Between 2 and 
5 years 

5 or more 
years 

Very or fairly effective 53% 53% 60% 

Very effective 13% 13% 15% 

Fairly effective 39% 41% 45% 

Not very effective 16% 19% 17% 

Not at all effective 6% 7% 9% 

Don’t know 26% 20% 14% 

Base: all respondents serving for at least a year: between 1 and 2 years (325), 

between 2 and 5 years (333), more than 5 years (873).  

Abuse and intimidation during campaign periods 
Respondents were asked how often, if at all, they experienced abuse or intimidation 

during this year’s election campaign periods. This related to experiences as both a 

candidate and as a campaigner, and across both the local elections in May and the 

general election in July. 

The results show that of those respondents who participated in elections this year, 

almost three quarters (73 per cent) experienced some level of abuse or intimidation 

during the campaign period. This included 8 per cent who experienced abuse or 

intimidation frequently, 30 per cent who experienced abuse or intimidation 

occasionally, and 35 per cent who experienced it rarely. Twenty-seven per cent of 

respondents did not experience any abuse or intimidation during the campaign 

periods. The full results for this question are shown in Table 8.  

Page 37



 

12 

 

Table 8: How often, if at all, did you experience abuse or 
intimidation during this year's local and/or general election 
campaign period? 

 
 

Per cent 

Some level of abuse or intimidation (frequently, 
occasionally, or rarely)  

73% 

Frequently 8% 

Occasionally 30% 

Rarely 35% 

Never 27% 

Base: all respondents who took part in elections this year (1596).  

This figure is broadly in line with last year, as 75 per cent of those who took part in 

elections in 2023 reported experiencing some level of abuse or intimidation during 

the campaign period. These figures have not however been directly compared, due 

to the fact that 2024 included both local elections and a general election, whereas 

2023 only included local elections. 

Abuse and intimidation over the last 12 months 
Respondents who had served as a councillor for at least a year were then asked 

how often, if at all, they had experienced abuse or intimidation in their role as a 

councillor over the last 12 months prior to completing the survey. Similar to during 

the campaign periods, almost three quarters of respondents (73 per cent) reported 

that they had experienced some level of abuse or intimidation during the last 12 

months, including 9 per cent who reported experiencing it frequently, 31 per cent 

who reported experiencing it occasionally, and 33 per cent who reported 

experiencing it rarely. This was in line with the 2022 Census, with 73 per cent 

reporting experiencing abuse either frequently, occasionally, or rarely, but lower than 

June 2023, with 81 per cent reporting experiencing some level of abuse or 

Page 38



 

13 

 

intimidation over the 12 months prior to completing the survey. Just over a quarter of 

respondent councillors (27 per cent) had never experienced abuse or intimidation 

over the last 12 months, representing an eight percentage point increase from June 

2023, but remaining in line with the 2022 Census. The full results for this question 

are shown in Table 9.  

Table 9: Over the last 12 months, how often, if at all, have 
you experienced abuse or intimidation in your role as a 
councillor? 

 
 

2022 Councillors’ 
Census 

2023 survey 2024 survey 

Some level of abuse or 
intimidation  

73% 81% 73% 

Frequently 10% 20% 9% 

Occasionally 29% 34% 31% 

Rarely 33% 27% 33% 

Never 27% 19% 27% 

Base: all respondents – 2022 (5055); all respondents serving for at least a year – 

2023 (655), 2024 (1531).  

Respondents who reported that they had experienced some level of abuse or 

intimidation in their capacity as councillor over the last 12 months were then asked 

how the volume of abuse or intimidation had changed over the past 12 months. The 

full results for this question are shown in Table 10 and Figure 1. 

The table shows that almost half of respondents (49 per cent) who had experienced 

some level of abuse or intimidation over the past year reported that the abuse had 

increased in the past 12 months, including 14 per cent who reported that it had 

sharply increased. Forty-two per cent of respondents reported that the level of abuse 

had stayed about the same over the past 12 months, whilst 4 per cent reported that it 

Page 39



 

14 

 

had slightly decreased, and 1 per cent reported that it had sharply decreased. Three 

per cent of respondents were unsure how the level of abuse had changed over the 

past year. 

Table 10: And thinking about the last 12 months, how has 
the volume of abuse and intimidation you have received in 
your role as a councillor changed? 

 
 

Per cent 

It has sharply or slightly increased 49% 

It has sharply increased 14% 

It has slightly increased 35% 

It has stayed about the same 42% 

It has slightly decreased 4% 

It has sharply decreased 1% 

Don’t know 3% 

Base: all respondents serving for at least a year who had experienced some level of 

abuse over the past 12 months (1116).  

 

Page 40



 

15 

 

Figure 1: How abuse and intimidation has changed over 
the last 12 months 

 
Base: all respondents serving for at least a year who had experienced some level of 

abuse over the past 12 months (1116).  

Respondents had the opportunity to provide further detail on how the volume of 

abuse or intimidation had changed in the last 12 months. A total of 852 respondents 

provided comments, which were grouped into common themes. The following 

themes emerged most frequently from respondents’ comments, organised in 

descending order from the most common theme downwards: 

• Social media and online abuse. Over a quarter of all comments 

mentioned social media, making it the most frequently mentioned factor in 

levels of abuse. Respondents explained that councillors are easily 

accessible by social media and that the anonymity of social media platforms 

Page 41



 

16 

 

enables users to abuse councillors or spread disinformation without 

consequences. Some respondents reported that they had come off or 

reduced their use of social media and this had naturally led to a decrease of 

abuse online. 

• Political affiliation. Political affiliation was cited as a significant driver of 

abuse, with many respondents citing that political opponents have become 

less tolerant of each other, and it has become more acceptable to abuse 

councillors simply for their political affiliation. Respondents noted that this 

type of abuse was received from both members of the public and from 

opposition councillors. Many respondents reported that election periods in 

particular are a time of heighted abuse, due to in-person and online 

campaigning activity which can increase the visibility and profile of political 

figures. A few respondents noted that the change in government of July 

2024 contributed to the level of abuse faced due simply to political affiliation 

• Persistent perpetrators. Many respondents cited that the abuse they 

received was led by one individual, or a handful of individuals, who had 

taken a personal dislike to the councillor. This led to sharply increasing or 

decreasing levels of abuse depending on the efforts of these individuals. In 

some cases, respondents said individuals were easier to deal with, while 

others said these individuals were persistent and they simply had to avoid 

contact with them. 

• International conflicts. The conflict in Israel and Gaza was cited as a 

catalyst for abuse against councillors. For some, this was due to their 

party’s stance on the conflict, whilst a few respondents cited public 

investment in arms as a source of abuse, and others cited related protests. 

Furthermore, some Jewish councillors reported an increase in antisemitic 

abuse linked to the conflict.  

• Councillors as public representatives. Respondents reported a rise in 

abuse from residents linked to council performance and decisions. Some 

respondents highlighted that dissatisfaction with public services in the 

Page 42



 

17 

 

context of the cost-of-living pressures and budget cuts led to abuse of 

individual councillors and that a lack of public understanding resulted in 

councils being unfairly blamed for central government’s decisions. On the 

other hand, some respondents noted that abuse was often linked to specific 

council decisions which residents or political opponents disagreed with. 

Planning decisions were the most commonly cited example, but 

controversial Low Traffic Neighbourhoods (LTNs), parking policies, and 

decisions to house asylum seekers in the area were also mentioned. 

• Holding particular positions within the council. Some respondents 

reported that abuse was exacerbated by holding a particular position within 

the council as they could become the face of the council’s decisions, 

irrespective of their involvement. The planning committee was most 

frequently mentioned as a driver for abuse, for example, a planning 

committee member highlighted “clichéd remarks about brown envelopes 

and corruption”. However other risky positions included licensing, scrutiny, 

or pension fund committees, as well as being leader or mayor of the council. 
Similarly, a few respondents noted that abuse decreased once they stepped 

down from this particular role.  

• Rise of extremism and increased polarisation. Some respondents 

reported that a rise in extremist views and political polarisation had fuelled 

an increase in abuse. The topic of immigration and asylum seekers was 

most commonly cited as a driver of extremist views and irreconcilable 

polarisation, with some respondents noting the impact of the far-right riots 

which took place across the UK in August, whilst this survey was active.  

• General increased negative perception of politicians. Some 

respondents noted that they have felt an increased general sense of hostility 

towards all political figures as a homogenised group. Some noted that this is 

reinforced by the mainstream media and the poor behaviour of national 

politicians linked to scandals, such as Party-Gate. Others reported receiving 

accusations of bribery and corruption. As one respondent noted, “people are 

Page 43



 

18 

 

much more confident to make “you’re all the same” accusations and lump 

local government as the same as national”.  

Involvement of the police 
Respondents were asked if they had ever reported to the police an incident of abuse 

experienced in their capacity as councillor. Around one quarter of respondents (23 

per cent) answered that they had reported an incident to the police, whilst around 

three quarters (76 per cent) had not. Two per cent of respondents did not wish to 

disclose whether or not they had reported an incident to the police. The full results 

for this question are shown in Table 11. 

Table 11: Have you ever reported to the police an incident 
of abuse or intimidation you have experienced in your role 
as councillor? 

 
 

Per cent 

Yes 23% 

No 76% 

Do not wish to say 2% 

Base: all respondents (1724). 

Experiences of damage and violence 
Respondents were asked whether they themselves, or someone closely connected 

with them, had been the victim of a range of violent activities due to their role as 

councillor. The full results for this question can be seen in Table 12. 

Of all respondents who answered this question, 10 per cent reported experiencing a 

threat of damage to their own property, whilst 5 per cent reported being a victim of 

actual damage to their own property. Five per cent of respondent councillors 

reported that someone closely connected to them had experienced a threat of 

Page 44



 

19 

 

damage to their property, whilst 3 per cent of respondents reported that someone 

close to them suffered actual damage to their property, due to the respondent’s role 

as councillor.  

More than one in five (21 per cent) reported experiencing a threat of violence against 

themselves due to their role as councillor, whilst 3 per cent had been a victim of 

actual violence due to their role. Eight per cent reported experiencing a threat of 

violence against someone closely connected to them, whilst 1 per cent reported that 

someone close to them had been a victim of violence due to the respondent’s role as 

councillor. Five per cent of respondent councillors had been a victim of a death 

threat, whilst 2 per cent of respondent councillors had had someone close to them 

receive a death threat due to the respondent’s role as councillor.  

Respondents had the opportunity to report other experiences not listed; 10 per cent 

of respondents reported another experience against themselves, and 3 per cent 

reported another experience against someone close to them. The following themes 

emerged most frequently from respondents’ comments, organised in descending 

order from the most common theme downwards: 

• Verbal abuse 

• Online abuse 

• Slander or libel against the councillor, including claimed slanderous 

accusations against the councillor to the police 

• Abuse relating to protected characteristics, including racism 

• Attempts to damage the councillor’s reputation, through public 

impersonation or doxing (the publication of private information) 

• Abusive emails 

• Sexual harassment  

• Abusive phone calls 

• Stalking, or visits to home address 

Page 45



 

20 

 

• Abusive letters or unpleasant items posted through the door 

• Emotional abuse or social ostracisation 

• Deliberate attack by an animal. 

Table 12: Due to your role as councillor, have you or a 
person closely connected with you ever experienced any 
of the following? 

 
 

Against you 
Against someone 
connected to you 

Threat of damage to property 10% 5% 

Actual damage to property 5% 3% 

Threat of violence 22% 8% 

Actual violence 3% 1% 

Threat of death 5% 2% 

Other, please write in 10% 3% 

Base: all respondents (1617).  

Protected characteristics 
Protected characteristics are a list of characteristics for which it is against the law to 

discriminate against someone under the Equality Act 2010. Respondents were 

asked whether or not they had experienced abuse or intimidation relating to any 

protected characteristics in their role as a councillor. This also covered abuse 

relating to the perception that a protected characteristic applies to the respondent, 

regardless of whether or not it does. The full results are shown in Table 13. 

The table shows that around one fifth of respondent councillors (19 per cent) had 

experienced abuse or intimidation relating to a protected characteristic, whilst three 

quarters (75 per cent) had not. Five per cent were unsure whether or not they had 

Page 46



 

21 

 

experienced abuse or intimidation relating to a protected characteristic, whilst 1 per 

cent did not wish to disclose whether or not they had.  

Table 13: In your role as councillor, have you ever received 
abuse or intimidation relating to any protected 
characteristics? 

 
 

Per cent 

Yes 19% 

No 75% 

Don’t know 5% 

Do not wish to say 1% 

Base: all respondents (1734). 

Respondents who reported that they had experienced an incident relating to a 

protected characteristic had the opportunity to specify the characteristic(s). The full 

results from this question are shown in Table 14 and Figure 2.  

Sex was the most commonly cited protected characteristic for which respondents 

experienced abuse, with more than a third (37 per cent) reporting abuse related to 

this characteristic. This was followed by race, reported by 28 per cent of respondents 

who had experienced abuse relating to a protected characteristic. Twenty-three per 

cent reported receiving age-related abuse, and a further 23 per cent reported 

receiving abuse relating to their religion or belief. Seventeen per cent reported 

receiving abuse relating to their sexual orientation, whilst a similar proportion (16 per 

cent) reported receiving abuse relating to disability. Three per cent reported an 

experience relating to their status as married or in a civil partnership, whilst 2 per 

cent reported an abusive experience relating to gender reassignment, and 1 per cent 

reported an experience relating to being pregnant or on maternity leave. Two per 

cent of respondents did not wish to specify the characteristic. 

Page 47



 

22 

 

Table 14: Which protected characteristic(s) was it related 
to? 

 
 

Per cent 

Sex 37% 

Race including colour, nationality, ethnic or national origin 28% 

Age 23% 

Religion or belief 23% 

Sexual orientation 17% 

Disability 16% 

Being married or in a civil partnership 3% 

Gender reassignment 2% 

Being pregnant or on maternity leave 1% 

Do not wish to say 2% 

Base: all respondents who had experienced abuse or intimidation relating to a 

protected characteristic and answered the question (334). Please note: respondents 

were able to select more than one option.  

 

Page 48



 

23 

 

Figure 2: Which protected characteristic(s) was it related 
to? 

Base: all respondents who had experienced abuse or intimidation relating to a 

protected characteristic and answered the question (334). 

Respondents then had the opportunity to provide any further detail on the abuse they 

experienced if they wished. A total of 170 respondents provided comments, which 

were grouped into common themes. The following themes emerged most frequently 

from respondents’ comments, organised in descending order from the most common 

theme downwards: 

• Misogyny. Around a third of comments elaborated on the issue of sex-

based abuse, specifying that this was rooted in misogyny. Female 

councillors reported being undermined and belittled, shouted at and spoken 

over, criticised for their appearance, as well as experiencing sexualisation of 

their bodies, suffering name calling using female-specific insults, and 

physical intimidation from larger men. Female councillors also reported 

suffering unsolicited sexual advances, or the threat of sexual violence.  

Page 49



 

24 

 

• Racism and xenophobia. Respondents emphasised that racism and 

xenophobia are still rife in politics, describing first-hand experiences of racist 

abuse they have received. One respondent also noted that they had 

suffered racism directed towards their spouse.    

• Age. Abuse on the basis of age spanned both ends of the spectrum, with 

younger respondents reporting suffering abuse suggesting they were too 

inexperienced because of their age, whilst older respondents reported being 

called too old and out-of-touch to fulfil the role.  

• Intersectionality of protected characteristics. Many comments 

emphasised the intersectionality of the protected characteristics, and how 

abuse often intensified for those councillors who identified with more than 

one characteristic.  

• Spreading untrue information. Some respondents reported that lies or 

false accusations in relation to protected characteristics had been used as 

an abuse or intimidation tactic. This was largely in relation to sexual 

orientation, leaving the respondent vulnerable to homophobic abuse. 

• Social media. Some respondents commented that activity that might 

constitute hate crime or illegal discrimination in other environments had 

apparently no consequences when perpetrated online. 

• Allegations of positive discrimination. Some respondents reported that 

allegations of positive discrimination related to race, gender or disability 

have been used to belittle them and suggest that their success was not due 

to their own merit.  

• Bullying. Some councillors reported that abuse based on protected 

characteristics often came from other councillors and formed part of a toxic 

bullying culture within the council.  

  

Page 50



 

25 

 

Contact at home 
Respondents were asked if, due to their role as councillors, a member of the public 

had attended or threatened to attend their home in an intimidatory or inappropriate 

way. Twenty-two per cent of respondents reported that they had experienced 

intimidatory or inappropriate contact at their home by a member of the public; 9 per 

cent had experienced a threat, whilst 10 per cent had experienced an actual visit, 

and 6 per cent reported another form of intimidatory or inappropriate contact at 

home. Seventy-eight per cent of respondents had not had such an experience. One 

per cent were unsure whether or not they had experienced a threat of, or actual, visit 

at home. The full results for this question are shown in Table 15. 

Table 15: In your role as councillor, have you ever had a 
member of the public attend, or threaten to attend, your 
home in a way that you considered intimidatory or 
inappropriate?  

 
 

Per cent 

Yes – threat or actual contact at home 22% 

Yes – threatened to attend my home 9% 

Yes – attended my home 10% 

Yes – other form of contact at home 6% 

No 78% 

Don’t know 1% 

Base: all respondents (1734). Please note: respondents were able to select more 

than one option.  

Respondents who had experienced either a threat of or actual intimidatory or 

inappropriate contact at home by a member of the public were then asked to indicate 

who this contact was from. The full results for this question can be seen in Table 16. 

Page 51



 

26 

 

Seventy per cent of respondents who had been contacted, or threatened to be 

contacted, at home in an intimidatory or inappropriate way reported that this had 

been from one person acting alone. Thirteen per cent reported that they had 

experienced this from more than one person, each acting alone, whilst 19 per cent 

reported that they had experienced this from a group of people acting together. 

Three per cent were unsure who the contact, or threat of contact, was from, whilst 6 

per cent of respondents indicated another form of grouping.  

These respondents had the opportunity to provide further detail, and the majority 

indicated that this was either not direct contact at home (i.e., by social media, 

telephone, or letter), or that they were unsure who had contacted them at home. Two 

respondents indicated that the contact had been from fellow councillors, whilst one 

indicated it had been from a candidate’s relative. Two reported contact at home from 

public authorities (the police and social services), reportedly in response to a 

malicious claim against the councillor. 

Table 16: And was this intimidatory or inappropriate 
contact at home from... 

 
 

Per cent 

One person acting alone 70% 

More than one person, each acting alone 13% 

A group of people, acting together 19% 

Other, please specify 6% 

Don’t know 3% 

Base: all respondents who had had a member of the public contact them at home in 

some way (374). Please note: respondents were able to select more than one 

option.  

  

Page 52



 

27 

 

Home address in public domain 
Respondents were asked whether or not they had requested their home address be 

withheld from the public register of members' interests. More than half of all 

respondents (55 per cent) had not requested that their home address be withheld, 

whilst 43 per cent had requested this. Two per cent were unsure whether or not they 

had, whilst 1 per cent did not wish to disclose whether or not they had. The full 

results for this question are shown in Table 17. 

Table 17: In your role as councillor, have you ever 
requested that your home address be withheld from the 
public register of interests? 

 
 

Per cent 

Yes 43% 

No 55% 

Don’t know 2% 

Prefer not to say 1% 

Base: all respondents (1734). 

Respondents who had not requested the withholding of their home address were 

asked whether or not they were aware that their address could be withheld. The 

majority (85 per cent) reported that they were aware that their address could be 

withheld, whilst 15 per cent reported that they were unaware of this. The full results 

for this question are shown in Table 18.  

Page 53



 

28 

 

Table 18: Were you aware that your home address could 
be withheld from the public register of interests? 

 
 

Per cent 

Yes 85% 

No 15% 

Base: all respondents who had not yet requested the withholding of their home 

address, or were unsure/chose not to say (990). 

Respondents who had requested the withholding of their home address were asked 

whether or not their request was successful. The majority (84 per cent) reported that 

their home address had been removed, whilst 6 per cent reported that their home 

address had not been removed. Ten per cent were unsure whether or not their 

address had been removed. The results for this question are shown in Table 19. 

Table 19: And was your home address removed from the 
public register of interests? 

 
 

Per cent 

Yes 84% 

No 6% 

Don’t know 10% 

Base: all respondents who had requested the withholding of their home address 

(741). 

Respondents who reported that their request had not been successful had the 

opportunity to detail why their address had not been removed. A total of 44 

respondents provided comments, and reasons included: 

• Request not deemed necessary due to insufficient perceived threat 

Page 54



 

29 

 

• Not the council’s policy to remove home addresses 

• Error on behalf of the council (requested removal but not actioned, removed 

and then re-added at a later date) 

• No reason given 

• Pending removal. 

Home modifications 
Respondents were asked whether or not they had made modifications to their home 

since having been elected due to concerns about their safety as a councillor. One 

fifth of respondents (20 per cent) reported that they had made modifications to their 

home since becoming a councillor due to safety concerns, and a further 11 per cent 

of respondents felt they needed modifications despite having not made them. Two 

thirds of respondents (66 per cent) had not made modifications and felt they did not 

need them, whilst 3 per cent of respondents chose not to report whether or not they 

had made modifications. The full results for this question are shown in Table 20. 

Table 20: Have you made modifications to your home 
security since becoming a councillor due to concerns you 
have about your security as an elected member? 

 
 

Per cent 

Yes 20% 

No – but I feel I need them 11% 

No – but I do not feel I need them 66% 

Prefer not to say 3% 

Base: all respondents (1734). 

Those who had not made modifications but felt that they needed to were then asked 

why they had not yet made them. More than half (53 per cent) reported that were 

Page 55



 

30 

 

unsure what modifications they should get, whilst 38 per cent reported they could not 

afford them. Twenty-four per cent of respondents specified another reason for not 

yet making modifications, including: 

• Not having the time to make modifications 

• Being in the process of making modifications 

• Not wanting, or family members not wanting, to live under surveillance or 

with security modifications 

• Already had security measures in place prior to becoming a councillor 

• Living in rental accommodation and not having the landlord’s permission 

• Layout or access routes to property meaning it is very difficult to implement 

effective security measures (e.g. drive exposed on all sides) 

• Concerns about data security of CCTV software or camera doorbells 

• Not believing that security measures would act as a deterrent  

• Emphasis on the cost, feeling that this should be covered by council 

expenses. 

One respondent reported that they would implement security measures if they were 

successful in being appointed to a more high-profile position within the council. The 

full results for this question can be seen in Table 21. 

Page 56



 

31 

 

Table 21: Why have you not made modifications to your 
home security despite feeling you need to? 

 
 

Per cent 

I am not sure what I should get 53% 

I cannot afford them 38% 

Other, please specify 24% 

Base: all respondents who had not made modifications but feel they need them 

(183). Please note: respondents were able to select more than one option. 

Respondents who had made modifications were asked about the modifications that 

they had made. Of those who had made security modifications, the most common 

was installing CCTV or other cameras, indicated by 59 per cent of respondents, 

followed by a camera doorbell, indicated by 49 per cent of respondents, and security 

lights, indicated by 47 per cent of respondents. Twenty-one per cent had installed 

new locks, whilst 14 per cent had installed an external post box, and a further 14 per 

cent had flagged their home address for police response. Nine per cent had installed 

a panic button or panic alarm. Three per cent of respondents chose not to indicate 

which modifications they had made, whilst twelve per cent of respondents indicated 

another modification not on this list. Other modifications specified included: 

• Reinforcing external security, including higher fences or electric gates  

• Installing a house alarm 

• Installing better locks or locking doors when inside 

• Getting a dog 

• Dummy CCTV 

• Having lighting on a timer setting, to appear at home when out 

• Protective window covering. 

The full results for this question are shown in Table 22.  

Page 57



 

32 

 

Table 22: What modifications have you made? 

 
 

Per cent 

CCTV or other cameras 59% 

Camera doorbell 49% 

Security lights 47% 

New locks 21% 

Installed an external post box 14% 

Home address flagged for police response 14% 

Panic button/alarm 9% 

Other, please specify 12% 

Prefer not to say 3% 

Base: all respondents who had made modifications (350). Please note: respondents 

were able to select more than one response. 

Awareness of the Debate Not Hate campaign 
Respondents were asked whether or not they were aware of the LGA’s Debate Not 

Hate campaign, or its slogan, prior to completing the survey. Half of all respondents 

(50 per cent) reported that they were aware of the campaign, whilst a similar but 

slightly smaller proportion (48 per cent) reported that they were not aware. Two per 

cent of respondents were unsure whether or not they had heard of the campaign or 

its slogan. The results for this question are shown in Table 23. 

Page 58



 

33 

 

Table 23: Before this survey, had you heard of the Debate 
Not Hate campaign, or its slogan, “the right engagement 
matters”? 

 
 

Per cent 

Yes 50% 

No 48% 

Don’t know 2% 

Base: all respondents (1734).  

Further comments  
Respondents were asked to provide any comments about the safety of councillors, 

or civility in public life more generally. A total of 840 respondents provided 

comments, which were grouped into common themes. The following themes 

emerged most frequently from respondents’ comments, organised in descending 

order from the most common theme downwards: 

• Social media and online abuse. Social media and the prevalence of online 

abuse were dominant themes in comments across the 2023 and 2024 

surveys, with respondents emphasising that anonymity online makes it 

difficult for abusers to face consequences. Furthermore, social media is 

seen to facilitate proliferations of mis- and disinformation, which can 

exacerbate abuse. Some respondents noted that they no longer use social 

media due to the abuse faced or moderate their use to avoid engaging in 

conflict. As one respondent commented, “I think more needs to be done […] 

with sanctions being brought against platforms who refuse to take action 

against threats and disinformation”.   

• Personal and democratic impact of abuse. Many respondents gave 

accounts of abuse that they personally, a fellow councillor, or someone 

close to them had suffered due to their role as councillor. Some 

Page 59



 

34 

 

respondents reported that they regret standing for office or are considering 

standing down due to these experiences, highlighting the impact of abuse 

on victims, and the barrier to being a councillor that abuse can create.  

• Need for better support for councillors. In light of the abuse faced, many 

comments expressed the need for better support for councillors from both 

the police and the council. This was also a frequently mentioned theme in 

last year’s iteration of the survey. Respondents recalled anecdotes in which 

their reports of abuse or intimidation were not taken seriously by either the 

police or the council, even in cases where apparent criminal behaviour had 

taken place. As one respondent warned, “this is an important issue which 

councils should take seriously otherwise we risk limiting the people who are 

prepared to stand for election”.  

• Comparison to protection measures for MPs. Some respondents 

highlighted that councillors are not offered the same level of personal 

protection as MPs and called for equal access for councillors. Examples of 

protection measures included personal panic alarms and home security 

reinforcements reportedly provided to MPs at public expense, whereas 

councillors would have to fund this themselves.  

• Effective personal safety training needed. Some councillors expressed 

that there is a need for an effective program of personal safety training for 

councillors. Suggestions for topics included personal safety when holding 

surgeries, when travelling to and from engagements, and when visiting 

residents in the community. Safety measures suggested by respondents 

included holding surgeries with other councillors to avoid being alone at 

public engagements, setting up a separate business email address and 

phone number, and exercising caution when promoting their public 

engagements if their home address is in the public domain. A few 

respondents reported that they had received effective training from their 

council and praised the impact of this in helping them manage and limit 

abuse. 

Page 60



 

35 

 

• Abuse relating to protected characteristics. Some respondents noted 

that abuse is often targeted towards councillors due to their protected 

characteristics. This also emerged in the comments of last year’s survey, 

revealing that this remains an issue. Female councillors reported feeling 

unsafe when carrying out their role due to sex-based abuse, and some 

respondents noted that having more than one protected characteristic can 

compound the level of abuse received. A few male councillors reported that 

although they had no personal experience of abuse, they had witnessed 

their female colleagues suffer this, emphasising its prevalence. As one 

female councillor noted, “I feel that if I had been a man, I would not have 

faced the same level of abuse”.  

• Impact of specific events. Some respondents flagged that abuse they 

received was sometimes linked to certain national or international events. 
The most frequent example cited was the war in Israel and Gaza, with 

respondents receiving abuse due to their party’s, or their own, stance on the 

conflict. Other examples included the UK riots of summer 2024 (coinciding 

with the fieldwork of this survey), the Grenfell Tower tragedy, Brexit, and the 

COVID pandemic.  

• Insufficient public understanding of local government. Some 

respondents expressed that there is a lack of understanding of local 

government and the role of the councillor. Respondents explained that this 

can fuel abuse as some residents overestimate the power councillors hold 

and confuse the responsibilities of local and central government, leading to 

councillors being blamed for national decisions over which they have no 

influence. Some respondents also reported that residents overestimate the 

remuneration councillors receive, believing that it is a full-time job. One 

councillor commented that “there seems to be an ignorance and indifference 

to how councils and government/parliament work – something I feel could 

be addressed in schools”.  

Page 61



 

36 

 

• Negative perception of politicians. In addition to the lack of understanding 

of the role of councillor, some comments described that there is a general 

sense of negativity and distrust towards politicians at a local and national 

level, which can generate abuse. This also emerged in comments last year, 

however a few respondents reported that the atmosphere feels increasingly 

hostile. As one councillor reported, “there is so much anger towards elected 

members” who are seen as an “elitist group who are completely out of touch 

for ordinary people and make decisions that benefit themselves”.  

• Abuse received from other councillors. Many comments flagged the 

abuse and intimidation that happens between councillors themselves, which 

was another recurrent theme from last year. Respondents explained that 

this largely occurs between opposing political parties and can be face to 

face during council meetings or on social media. Some respondents also 

noted that abuse and intimidation can be a tactic used during elections to 

impact a candidate’s chances of gaining office, whilst other respondents 

complained that abuse and intimidation between councillors is not taken 

seriously by the council. One councillor emphasised that “the relationship 

between different parties is much more heated than public to politicians. 

More work is needed to make debates less personal”. 

• Need for healthy debate in public life. Some respondents commented 

that debate is an important part of public life, and that a certain level of 

disagreement and argument should be expected when taking on the role of 

councillor. Such comments emphasised that public access to councillors is 

important, and protection measures should not come at the expense of 

legitimate challenge and debate. As one councillor reported, “I think that 

debates are good for democracy and accountability, however personal 

abuse is unacceptable”.  

  

Page 62



 

37 

 

Annex A: Questionnaire 
Thank you for taking the time to complete this survey.     

All responses will be treated confidentially. Information will be aggregated, and no 

individual or authority will be identified in any publications without your consent. 

Identifiable information may be used internally within the LGA but will only be held 

and processed in accordance with our privacy statement. We are undertaking this 

survey to aid the legitimate interests of the LGA in supporting and representing 

authorities.   

You are in control of any personal data that you have provided to us in your 

response. You can contact us at all times to have your information changed or 

deleted.  

   

1. Please amend the details we have on record if necessary. If you are a 
member of more than one council, please only complete this survey once. 

• Name 

• Authority 

• Email address 

 

2. Please indicate the type of council(s) of which you are a member. Select all 
that apply 

• District council 

• County council 

• Unitary council 

• London borough 

Page 63



 

38 

 

• Metropolitan borough 

• Town council 

• Parish/community council 

• Other, please specify 

 

3. What is your political affiliation as a councillor? 

• Conservatives 

• Green Party 

• Independent (including Residents’ Association) 

• Labour 

• Liberal Democrats 

• Plaid Cymru 

• Reform UK 

• Other (please specify) 

 

4. How long have you been serving as a councillor? 

• Less than one year / newly elected in May 

• 1 to <2 years 

• 2 to <5 years 

• 5 years or more 

 

 

Page 64



 

39 

 

5. How often, if at all, do you feel at risk personally when fulfilling your role as 
a councillor? 

• Frequently 

• Occasionally 

• Rarely 

• Never 

 

Ask those who have been serving for at least a year: 

6. How effective or not do you think are your authority’s arrangements for 
protecting you personally as you fulfil your role as a councillor? 

• Very effective 

• Fairly effective 

• Not very effective 

• Not at all effective 

• Don’t know 

 

The following questions relate to whether you have experienced abuse or 
intimidation in your role as a councillor and/or as a candidate or campaigner at 
the most recent local and/or general electoral period. 

These terms are defined as follows: 

Abuse – words and/or behaviour that constitute abuse or mistreatment can 
include, but is not limited to, physical abuse, bullying, emotional abuse, 
unsolicited abusive communication, and harassment. It may be one-off or 
repeated. 

Page 65



 

40 

 

Intimidation – words and/or behaviour intended or likely to block, influence, or 
deter participation in public debate or causing alarm or distress, which could 
lead to an individual wanting to withdraw from public life. It may be one-off or 
repeated behaviour. 

7. How often, if at all, did you experience abuse or intimidation during this 
year's local and/or general election campaign period? 

• Frequently 

• Occasionally 

• Rarely 

• Never 

• Not applicable – I did not take part in elections this year 

 

Ask those who have been serving for at least a year: 

8. Over the last twelve months, how often, if at all, have you experienced abuse 
or intimidation in your role as a councillor? 

• Frequently 

• Occasionally 

• Rarely 

• Never 

 

Show to respondents who answered rarely, frequently or occasionally at Q8: 

9. And thinking about the last twelve months, how has the volume of abuse 
and intimidation you have received in your role as a councillor changed? 

• It has sharply increased 

Page 66



 

41 

 

• It has slightly increased 

• It has stayed about the same 

• It has slightly decreased 

• It has sharply decreased 

• Don’t know 

 

10. Please give reasons for your answer. 

 

 

11. Have you ever reported to the police an incident of abuse or intimidation 
you have experienced in your role as a councillor? 

• Yes 

• No 

• Do not wish to say 

 

12. Due to your role as a councillor, have you or a person closely connected 
with you ever experienced any of the following?  

For the purposes of this question, a person closely connected with you could be your 

immediate or extended family, your partner, or a close friend.  

• Threat of damage to property 

• Actual damage to property 

• Threat of violence 

• Actual violence 

Page 67



 

42 

 

• Threat of death 

• Other, please write in 

• None of the above 

 

• Against you 

• Against a person closely connected with you 

 

Protected characteristics are a list of characteristics, for which it is against the 
law to discriminate against someone under the Equality Act 2010. The 
protected characteristics are: 

• age 

• being married or in a civil partnership 

• being pregnant or on maternity leave 

• disability 

• gender reassignment 

• race including colour, nationality, ethnic or national origin 

• religion or belief 

• sex 

• sexual orientation 

More information about protected characteristics can be found on the Gov.UK 

Discrimination rights webpage. 

13. In your role as councillor, have you ever received abuse or intimidation 
relating to any of the protected characteristics above?  

Page 68

https://www.gov.uk/discrimination-your-rights
https://www.gov.uk/discrimination-your-rights


 

43 

 

This also includes abuse and intimidation relating to the perception that a protected 

characteristic applies to you, regardless of whether or not it does. 

• Yes 

• No 

• Don’t know 

• Do not wish to say 

 

Ask those who had received abuse/intimidation relating to a protected characteristic: 

14. Which protected characteristic(s) was it related to? Select all that apply. 

• age 

• being married or in a civil partnership 

• being pregnant or on maternity leave 

• disability 

• gender reassignment 

• race including colour, nationality, ethnic or national origin 

• religion or belief 

• sex 

• sexual orientation 

• Do not wish to say  

 
15. If you would like to share more details about your experience(s), please 
use the space below.  

 

Page 69



 

44 

 

16. In your role as councillor, have you ever had a member of the public attend 
your home or threaten to attend your home in a way that you considered 
intimidatory or inappropriate? Select all that apply. 

• Yes – threatened to attend my home 

• Yes – attended my home 

• Yes – other form of contact at home 

• No 

• Don’t know 

 

Shown to respondents who answer yes (threat / actual / other) at Q16 

17. And was this… 

• One person acting alone 

• More than one person, each acting alone 

• A group of people, acting together 

• Other, please specify 

• Don’t know 

 

18. In your role as councillor, have you ever requested that your home address 
be withheld from the public register of interests? 

• Yes 

• No 

• Don’t know 

• Prefer not to say 

Ask if respondent had not explicitly requested the withholding of their address 

Page 70



 

45 

 

19. Were you aware that your home address could be withheld from the public 
register of interests? 

• Yes 

• No 

 

20. And was your home address removed from the public register of interests? 

• Yes 

• No 

• Don’t know 

 

Ask if home address was not removed: 

21. Why was your home address not removed? 

 

 

22. Have you made modifications to your home security since becoming a 
councillor due to concerns you have about your security as an elected 
member? 

• Yes 

• No – But I feel I need them  

• No – I do not feel I need them 

• Prefer not to say 

Page 71



 

46 

 

Ask respondents who answered No – But I feel I need them: 

23. Why have you not made modifications to your home security despite 
feeling you need to? Select all that apply 

• I cannot afford them 

• I am not sure what I should get 

• Other, detail: 

 

Ask respondents who had made modifications: 

24. What modifications have you made? Select all that apply 

• Security lights 

• Camera doorbell 

• CCTV or other cameras 

• New locks 

• Panic button/alarm 

• Installed an external post box 

• Home address flagged for police response 

• Other, please specify  

• Prefer not to say 

 

25. The LGA’s Debate Not Hate campaign aims to raise public awareness of 
the role of councillors and provides support for local politicians facing abuse 
and intimidation. Before this survey, had you heard of the Debate Not Hate 
campaign, or its slogan, “the right engagement matters”? 

Page 72



 

47 

 

• Yes 

• No 

• Don’t know 

 

26. Please use the space below to tell us anything more you’d like to about the 
safety of councillors, or civility in public life more generally. 

 

 

27. Please tick the box below if you would like to be involved in future work 
related to this area and/or the contents of this survey. 

[ ] I would like to be involved in further work 

 

Many thanks for taking the time to complete this survey. You are in control of any 

personal data that you have provided to us in your response. You can contact us at 

all times to have your information changed or deleted.  

Page 73



Local Government Association 
18 Smith Square 
London SW1P 3HZ 

Telephone 020 7664 3000 
Fax 020 7664 3030 
Email info@local.gov.uk 
www.local.gov.uk  

© Local Government Association, October 2024 

Page 74

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


�������

��	�
���
�������������������������������������������� �����!���""�������
������#���$���"�%&&'''(��#��()��(�*&��"�#�&����������&����������+���+�)

+����)���������+���,

-./�0.123456378�7.62389:�;7<�47.8432:�458�19669/�:.007/6

47.843227/:�67�0/9=986�58>�;58>29�51.:9�58>�3842.>9:�0/3843029:

?7/�47.8432:�67�478:3>9/@�670�630:�58>�A77>�0/546349�45:9�:6.>39:B

CD�EFG�HCHD

IJK

LDMHN

OPQRSP�TUS�VRSPW�XYZ[Y\�RQ]̂P�[Y�_]Q̀[a
[̀bP�bUc�aU]Ya[̀̀Uĉ

defghijkf�lhmmnop

qrstuvw�uv�xFyGuz�{||uzr�u}�y{~����xsutuGrwr��v����sr}x{v}uyuGu~���v�����

���������������������������������������������������������������

��������������������u}� {s¡uvw�~{�z��GGrvwr�~�r��yF}r�G{z�G�x{Gu~uzu�v}

|�zrM�¢{ rtrs£�~�rsr�u}���ws{ uvw�u}}Fr�{|��yF}r��v��uv~u¤u��~u{v�uv

xFyGuz��v��x{Gu~uz�G��u}z{Fs}r�~��~�z�v���tr���vrw�~utr�u¤x�z~�{v

z{FvzuGG{s}£�~�rus�|�¤uGur}��v��G{z�G��r¤{zs�z�M�¥�u}�u}� ���~�r�IJK

z{¤¤u}}u{vr��¦uyrs�§{v}FG~�v~}�~{� {s¡� u~��z{FvzuG}��v��srGrt�v~

x�s~vrs}�~{�z{v}u�rs�~�r�yr}~��xxs{�z�r}�~{�}Fxx{s~uvw�z{FvzuGG{s}�~{

xsrtrv~��v��¤�v�wr��yF}r�Guv¡r��~{�~�rus�rGrz~r��s{GrM�¥�s{Fw��~�r

xs{̈rz~£�sr}r�sz�rs}�u�rv~u|ur��¡r��z��GGrvwr}�~{�}Fxx{s~uvw�z{FvzuGG{s}

 u~��~�r}r�u}}Fr}£�xsuvzuxGr}�|{s�z{FvzuG}�~{�z{v}u�rs£��v��~{x�~ux}��v�

w{{��xs�z~uzr�z�}r�}~F�ur}�~{��rGx�z{FvzuG}�yr~~rs�}Fxx{s~�z{FvzuGG{s}

xsrtrv~��v����v�Gr��yF}r��v��uv~u¤u��~u{vM

Annex 2

Page 75



�������

��	

��
��

��	

��
�������������������������������������������� ����!�"��##� 

�����##���� ����$�� ��������%�$�����&���%��� 

����&� �����'����������������������&� �����$�������(�����$������&��� 

(��)�� *����������������������������������������������� ����������'

��	

��
��+��,��(����������#������������ ���#�����*�������������

�����%�$�����&������ �����&� ����������$���������'������������

 ��-��(��)�)$�������������)$���������� ����������'��.$���������&��� 

�� ������ ��*��������$��������� �$��#��$�����##�����*�������������

#���� �'

��	

��
��/��.$����������������*�*�&������ ����#��������&��$�

#����������������� �$�����&������������������'�0�&��#������������

�����1&#��$����%���&����$�������������������� �����)!���(������

�����&��$��*�����*��������'�.$���������&��� �� ������������ ����

������ �������������������#���������� �������������%������(���

�� ������ ��*����)$1��$�1���� ��#������&�������'�

234�546
���783��96683:�	
��54��

;��� ����)��(�$�#���� ������)��#���������)��)��$�����������������%�)�

#��#������&��*�� ��*�#�����#�������$��#��������������*�����$���

�$�����*��<

=>�?@ABCDBE@AFGH@�FIIABFHJ�DB�FKLM@N�O�������$��� ����������

�������#����1��$���������1�����������P#����������������������������� 

#��&��������#������� �����'

Q>�REFASDT�BU�IABH@MM�FGV�A@MIBGMSKSESDTN�������1� �������$�

#�����������������*������������ �����*�����#���������� ��� ����

)��$����$�������������#���� ����##������������������'

W>�X@EFDSBGMJSIM�YSDJ�EBHFE�IBESH@N�Z���������1� �����#������*

���������$�#��)��$��$��#�����������$��������� ���������� �������

&�������� ������ ��*������������������*��������������� ��$������

���#����������  ������*���'

Page 76



�������

����	
��
���

���	����������������������������� !�"���"�!!���#

������ ���$�� "%���!&�����%�'&����(��%)���*)��&� +�"� ��

$������"����(� �����+��%�,

-��.

�

�
���/�0�/
���
�1���2�
�3��4�"�*����� ���"�������

)�5�&����"���"�!�" ����$$��%�"���"�!!���5�!!6���*� ��� ������

%)����* %�����+$ "%���'�$����� !� %% "(�� ���)��%'�!

"�++��% ����

789:;;8<=>?@:<A

B���%)���$��C�"%D����� �")���������%)��'� +�5��(��'� *��"&D�5)���6&

"���"�!!���D�"���"�!�D�$�!�"�� ���!�" !� *��"����) ����$�"�'�"�$�5���D

������"��� ����$)������'���'!���"��%) %�%)�&�" �� ''�"%,�E)���*)�%)��

'� +��*D�%)�&� !�������%�'����6 �������%�� ��������*� 6���� ��

��%�+�� %����5)�")����*�� %����%�����%)����$)���,�F��6���'�%)����������

��"!�����%)��+ � *�+��%��'�) �+'�!�"��%��%���!���D�%)��" $ "�%&� ��

�G$�"% %�����'�%)��$�!�"��%�����$����%�� 6���� * ���%��!�"%���+�+6���D

 ���%)�����+ !�� %�����'� 6����!� ���*�%��$�����% �� �����'�$�!�%�" !� ��

$�6!�"����"�����,

F�����$�����%��%)����") !!��*��D�%)��HIJ�) ������!�$���%)���

��"�++��� %�����'���"��%� !�*�����+��%D���*�! %���� ���$�!�"��'��"��

 "�����K�*! ���%��"�������,

789:;;8<=>?@:<�LM�E)��I�����+��%� ���N'"�+��)��!��% (�

�%�$��%���������%) %�) �+'�!� ��� 6������6�) �������������%

"��%����������%��"%�����!���D���"!����*�����!�$��*�"!� ��*��� �"�

'�����"� !�+��� � ����%)�����!���������"��$������������%)���

�6!�* %�����%��+�%�* %��%)�����(���'���!���� 6���� ���)�5�%)���+ &

6��6��%� ")�����O� ���%) %�%)���G$�����"���'��!�"%���+�+6������

"������������� �&���5�N'"�+�*��� �"��+ �� %���6&�%)��N�!���

P '�%&�Q�!!,

789:;;8<=>?@:<�RM�E)��I�����+��%��)��!��5��(�5�%)�%)��$�!�"�

%����%���%�"!� �� ���"�����%��%�*��� �"�����%)����!���'�$�!�"��*���

 ��������*� 6���D���%�+�� %���� ���) � ��+��%��'��!�"%��

Page 77



�������

�����	
���
�
�

�����������������	��������������������	��	���

�

�����������
��������������	
����������
���
��������������

����������	����
��������
��������������	
�

��� !!�"#$%& "�'(��
��)�*�	������

������������
��
�������

�
��+���������+����	����,	��	����������������������������
�


�����-�
���	�����������������������������������������������
-�	��
�	

�
�������
����
����������������������������
�������	����

����	��	�����

."%/ #0�%& "�$"#�1$�23/ 0"#

4��
������������������	
��
�������������������
�	���
��*��������
��

�
�
������	�����
��	����	�������������������	
���������������������
����

����		������
�	
��	���	���������	����������

5��6766-��89�:;<�=>?@A�B8CB�D9E9@�>?B�>=�FG�H>?@HIJJ>KD�L8BBMDNOOPP

PQJ>HCJQR>EQ?SOM?TJIHCBI>@DO@CBI>@CJUH9@D?DUJ>HCJUC?B8>KIBVUH>?@HIJ

J>KDUWGWWX
�������	����������
���	����
�������������
���	�*���
����	�

Y�	�
�	�	�
��	�
�����
��Z)4����6766-�	�����	���������	�
��
������
����

�������������������������
���	
���
������������	����
�������
�	���
��

������������*�����������������������	����

�
��Z)4�
�
��������	[������	�
�������������������������	

����	
������������
���

���������
�����������������������������

�����	
������
�������*�����
-��������	����
�����
�������������

��*�	����������������	�*�	
���
�
��	�����
�
��	�\�����
���	�������
�	��


����	�\���
����[��������
�������������������	�*�������
���������	�

���

�
����������	
���������
�
�����
����������������
������������������


����������������������	�*�����������	�

����
����	���	����������
�

���������	
��]�
�	�	�
��	��
�����
�
�
�	��
����������
��̂9TCB9�_>B�̀CB9N

a89�IbMCHB�>=�CT?D9�>@�J>HCJ�A9b>HKCHV�K9M>KB�L8BBMDNOOPPPQJ>HCJQ

R>EQ?SOM?TJIHCBI>@DOA9TCB9U@>BU8CB9UIbMCHBUCT?D9UJ>HCJUA9b>HKCH

VX������
��c>?@HIJJ>K�R?IA9�B>�8C@AJI@R�CT?D9�C@A�I@BIbIACBI>@Q�L8BB

MDNOOPPPQJ>HCJQR>EQ?SOH>?@HIJJ>KDUR?IA9U8C@AJI@RU8CKCDDb9@BUCT?

D9UC@AUI@BIbIACBI>@X

Page 78



�������

��	
��
�������	���

��������������� !��"��#��������$������!���#"�%�"&!'��!#"���(!#��!���#�

�!%��%!���&�����������)��#)'&�#���*����#������)������&��&����!#"�"�))���#�

'�%�'���)�!&��#�$+�!#"�!(�#�+,�-����!(�#�+���)������������!�!���+��)

�#"�%�"&!'�����!����#"���#"�#�'+�!#"�$!.���������/�*��'�����&��&��

����!�#��������� ��!"�������!'��+���$��!#"��#����&���#����!����!��

�#"�%�"&!'� ��!%��&��!#"�'�$���!(�#�+,����������!#��#����#����#���#

 ��*��#�!(�#�+�!#"����&��&���!���#"�%�"&!'�!����#��!����#)'&�#��"� +

!#"��$�!���"� +��������&��&�����#�*��������+����,����������!����&'!�'+

��'�%!#�����"���&����#��! �&����&#��''����!�����+����&�+�!#�&#&�&!'

�������#/�#�������%�'&#�����#����$�'�+��0����+��!%�� ����$����!(�#�+

 +������#(��'�(��'+��&���"��&�&!'��$�'�+$�#��)�!$�*��.�/� &��!'��

 �#�)���)��$�)�*���'�(!'����������#�,

1#�������!�!"�($/��������!%�� ��#��))��������$!2�$�����#������!(�#�+

!#"�&��.�''���&#��''�������$!#!(���������*#��#%���#$�#��/�$���(!������.�

!#"� &�'"�����'��#��,�-�*�%��/���&#��''�����#'+��!%��������*���!#"

!&��#�$+�����$�!����������*#�!����#�,�3�+�#"�!���&#��''��4������'���)

�#)'&�#��/���������(!#��!���#���#�����'��!'�!��!�$!+��!%��������*��/

����&�����!#"/��#���$���!���/����������#�� �'��+���������#"����! &��/

�#��$�"!���#�!#"�����!���!�$�"�!��'��!''+��'����"�$�$ ���,

5����2!$�'�/���&#��'��!'�#(��"����'����!'��!���������%�"���������$!�+

�&������$���!#��$�)�����&#��''����'��!''+/�*�����))������!���#(�!�����#��

�)���#�!���)���"!+6��6"!+� &��#����!#"����%�"�#(������!'����!"%����!#"

�#)��$!���#,�-�*�%��/���&#��'��!'����!%��'�$���"���*���/�����&����/

!#"��������*#������)�����������)��#)'&�#��,�7#'+�*������������"�#!��"

�#�&��)��$���������!�&���+�!#"�#�#6��!�&���+��!�����/��&���!��������'���/

$�"�!����%�"���/�!#"�����!'�$�"�!����%�"�����!#�*����������!""����

! &���!#"��#��$�"!���#�!(!�#�����&#��''����!#"��������'����"�$�$ ���,

5&���������''�������!�����$�����&�����!����8&����#!���#!'/�����!'���

�+���$�����!#(��!#"�*�����'��!'���(!#��!���#���!##���!""������#

���'!���#,

����&(��&���������������!#"������������/�����!&�������!%��&��"�! &��/

�#��$�"!���#�!#"��& '����#��$�"!���#������)������9*��"��!#":��� ��!%��&�

�#��#"�"����'�.�'+���� '��./��#)'&�#������"������!������!���#��#��& '��

Page 79



�������

��	
����
��
������
�

���
�����
������������������
�����
����������
�

�
��������������

���
�����	������������������������������
�

������

	��
����
���
�����

������������������������� !!"#$%&� �

'()*+,-�.+-/)0)1)23

��
�����������
�4��������567�
���������
8��
������	�������9������


���

�������������������
��
������
�������
������������������
������

���������	������
��
����
����
�������
������
����������������
	���


�
��������������
�����������
�������
����
���

���
�����
���������




�������
����
����
�����������
������������
��������������
����
��

�9��
����������
�����������������
	����
����������
�������
������

����

�
��
����������9��
����������������������

������
��������
�����
������������������
���

�����
�����������
��

��
����
��������
�����
������
��

��
���������

��
���

���
��


�����������������������
��������
���	


��
������

�����������������

�������
�������
�
���������
��������	����
������
��������������
������

���������
����
��������
�����
������
��

��
���

�����
8������
��

���8����������

���
���������������������������������������	


��
�������

�
�������
����	�������9��
��������
��
�4��������
�����
�����

����
���




��������
�
���
�����������
���	��
����������
������������
�4����

'/:;+�<=�>/:11+?2+;�:?0�@:((A+(;�A0+?-ABA,:-A)?

C+-:A1+0�.+-/)0)1)23=

DEFGHGI"J�JK!!%#L�K#$�GIKM"NFO$"P�%#I"PQ%"RG

��������������


��������
	����
����������
��������
����	
��������


���������
�����������������

��������
����
�
�����������	���7����������
�



���
����
�
���
������
�����������
�������
������������������������

��
�����������������������
�������
���������
��
�����
���9��
�

�
�
���
�������9�����
��

�����������ST��	���
����
�
������������������

�����
��
�
���
	����
����������
�����������
������������������
�������

�������
������
�����������
�

U������ST����
�������������
�������
���������������������


��������
	���


����������
������
�����
�
������������
��������
��������

���V
��

�
�
���
��������������������W��
������
������������
�
�������������

��������X�����

����
������
������
�����

��
������������
�����
������


Page 80



�������

���	
����
������
�����������������������������		�
���������������

������
�������
������
�������
	�
��� �����������!""#$%&'�()����

	��
��������������
��
���
����������������*�����

+�����������,��� 
� ���������*��������
�-����

�� 
����.����,��	��

�����*����������������
��������
����������
��/�
���
 ���-���
� ��������

	 /��
���
�
�-�����	
��
�-������-��

����������������������
�
�


���������
����0��������*������

 ��
����*�
���
��	�
	������	 /��
�����-

�����*����
���������
�������-�	�
/������������	���������
����������


�����������������
���������������� ��
���/ �����������	�
	�����

	 /��
������

1&2#34253#�3#6&#7

0
�/������ �������������������
����� 		
�������������
��

 �
���
��-���



�� 
���������������
�����
��
���

 ������
��������� 		
������

� ���������	 /�������/��������
������
��
��
��8��

 �
�����0����������

�
����������	 /��
��		�
�
�����
�����������/ �����������������
��
�

���
����	�
	��-���
� �����

 �
���
��� 		
���	�
�����-�� ����
��
�

	���
����������-�9��
,�
�����
��	
��
��������
���������*����

�������:�


���������
������

 �
���-��������� ��/����
����������� 		
�����������

� 		
������

 �
���
���������/ ���
������������
��
��	���
�����������

;
��*��-�������
����
����
�������������������

 �
�����
��
����*�

���������
 �
����*����/����
�

 �
���
����:�������

 �
������*�����

����������

�	�������*��
��� 		
���*��� ����
���<

��	��
��
�

�������������
�����������
��������/������

�	
���������
��������	
���

=>?5@�A3>5"@

B��	����
�������	����-�����
�������
��

 ����
 	�-�
����
��

 �
���
��

��������������/ �����������������
������
����
��

 �
���
���
����������

�
���� 		
������

 �
���
����0������������
��������������/�����������


�����������
�	�
*������

 �
���
��������/������� 		
�����
 ����/ ��

��������������
����
����
��	���	�
��*���0����

 ����
 	����������������

��� 
� ����������	�
����������� �����
 ���	��*����
�-�� 		
��-

���	
����-����������
�����C
 ������

 �
���
����������������

 �
���
�

�
����
	�����DD�
���
������
����������
���	�
��������������������


���
����
����
	��B���������
������
������*�����������
��� ��
����

��	������������������	
����
���

���
���
�
�������*�������
��E�����������
���

Page 81



�������

��	
�	��


����������������

���������� �! " ��! #�� ��$��% &�% '��(�)���"�*+��������&�%�! �+

&#�&�*���#)�*�!(��$��!�'�,���&����-�.//012345�60�7�8692:�;:

<0==35404�742�>9235�?@66A8BCC04=34D=3;171:EF3=D:E/0GC203CH9==CIJEIII

ICIKLMNOPQREIPSTTUVWXWXYZ� ��WX[\Z�]\�$�*�&��!�#'�$�*% �"��!�*̂

&��� ��!���*�$#*!����_$�* ��& �+��#"��'#*"�#'�(�*���"��!Z������Z�#*

 �! " ��! #����* �+�!(� *�&�"$� +��-�̀( ��*�$*����!�����[[a$�*&��!�+�

$# �!� �&*�����&#"$�*���!#�WX[b-�c#"��#'' &�*��*�$#*!���!(�!�!(�̂�'�%!

!(�!�* � �+�������%�)�%�� ��$��% &�� �&#�*���&#�%�������*���%!�#'���! a

$#% ! &�����! "��!�����$*#% '�*�! #��#'�&#��$ *�&̂�!(�#* ���#�% ��Z�,( &(

�#"�! "���$*����!������'#�������%%�+�! #���#'�� �������&#**�$! #�Z

����#!(�*����� )����(�) #�*�-

d#,�)�*Z�!( ��&(��+��(��������+*����%Z� ���#!�,�%%��) ���&��� ��%#&�%

+#)�*�"��!�����(����#!��%,�̂��$*����!��� ��!(����"��,�̂� ��� ''�*��!

$%�&���&*��! �+���)�* �� % !̂�#'�*��$#�����% �e���!#�� ''�*��! �%

�_$�* ��&��-�f#*��_�"$%�Z���� �&*����� ����$$#*!�$*#) �����̂�&#��& %�

(���'*�g���!%̂������! ���!#���)�*����! #��%� �& ���!��#*�%#&�% ���

!(*��!�-�h��*�+ #���,(�*����&(� ������(�)���#!������$*�)�%��!�#*�( +(

$*#' %�Z�&#��& %������#!(�*��+��& ���"�̂��#!�(�)��e�$!�$�&��, !(

 �&*��� �+�* �e�����#& �!���, !(�!(��*#%��#'��%�&!���"�"��*�-

i#��& %�#'' &�*������&#��& %%#*��(�)��*�$#*!���!(�!������Z� �! " ��! #�Z

����(�*���"��!�'�&����̂��%�&!���"�"��*��&���(�)������!* "��!�%

 "$�&!�#����"#&*�! &�*�$*����!�! #�Z�$�*! &�%�*%̂�,(�*�

����**�$*����!���+*#�$�� ��%#&�%�������! #��%�$#% ! &��*�&� )��( +(�*

)#%�"�������"#*���++*��� )��'#*"��#'������-�f#*��_�"$%�Z�*����*&(

���%̂� �+�!(���''�&!��#'�������#��,#"��j��&�"$� +���!*�!�+ ��

*�)��%�������"�+ �+�% �e�,(�*��,#"���,(#��_$�* ��&�� �! " ��! #�

!����!#�"#��*�!��!(� *�&�"$� +� �+��!*�!�+ �����������!(� *�&(��&���#'

�%�&!#*�%���&&��������*" ����?<0==35404�742�>k235l�PJPIUE�?@66A8BCCF

FFE6742H04=34DE/0GC203CH9==CIJEIJSJCIMKTMPSOEPJPIEIOLSKIQU

Page 82



�������

��	
	��
��������
�����������
���
����
�����

���������� �!�"�"�"�#"$��%%���!� �!�$�#&"�"%��"�!�"��'"��#��(�$"��'�)���

 ���#��*�!�$����#��� +�#&!���%%��"� �!�$�'��,!#"���#�-"� .�/&� ��!��+!0"��#

�&!��"�1��1�#���$"�#�%*�#&"�'���#�(&"���"1�#�+!#"����#��� +�)"��+" 

!)� "2�&!�!  +"�#�!�$���#�+�$!#���.

3"���� �����$"�# 2� ��&�! �'&* ��!��!  !��# �!�$���"$�)�"�#&�"!# �#����%"

!�$���+)2�(������"!��*�+""#�#&"�#&�" &��$�%���'����"���#"�,"�#���.�/&" "

","�# �(����1"�"�!��%�#��"!#�*���#��#&"�"4� #��1��"1!��%�!+"(��02�(&��&

'��+!���*�����"�#�!#" ������$�,�$�!���! " �#&!#���,��,"�!� ���#!�*�,��#�+

!�$�!����"�'"�'"#�!#��.�5#�� ���$"� #��$�#&!#�#&"��� 0��%�'&* ��!��,���"��"

#�(!�$ ����������� �� ���(����#&"�6�1�!�$�!�$�+� #�����$"�# �+!*���#

��� #�#�#"�!���++"$�!#"�"+"�1"��*�)�#�+!*��","�#&"�"  �)"����+��!�.

3"���� ����+" ���0"�&!#"����+"2� #!�0��12�!�$�&!�!  +"�#�&!,"���)� #

$"%���#��� 2��&!�1��1�#&�" &��$ �!�$��"1!����� "7�"��" .�8�(","�2

+!�*����������� �&!,"��"'��#"$�#&!#�#&"*�%""��#&"�#&�" &��$�%���'����"�#�

�"���$�!�$���," #�1!#"�����$"�# �!1!�� #�#&"+�� �&�1&"��#&!����$��!�*

��#�-"� 2�)"�!� "��%�#&"���"�"�#"$����".

9&��"�#&"��!(�� ��"�!#�,"�*���"!��%��� �+"����+" 2�#&"� !+"��!���#�)"

 !�$�%���+��"�%�"7�"�#�*"#�"7�!��*�$!+!1��1�%��+ ��%�!)� "2�! ������"

!)� "�!�$�+� ��%��+!#���.�/&"�����"�#��"1!��%�!+"(��0���!$"7�!#"�*

!$$�"  " �#&"���+��!#�,"����" �!�!#��1��+'!�#��%� ��&�!)� "2�! �("��

! ��! " ���,��,��1�+��#�'�"�'"�'"#�!#�� .�/&� ��!�0��%���!��#*�!�$

��$"� #!�$��1���"!#" �!�1�"*�!�"!2�(&��&�&! � �1��%��!�#��+'���!#��� �%��

" #!)�� &��1���"!���"'��#��1�#&�" &��$ �#��#&"�'����"�!�$��"!," �,��#�+ 

(�#&��#�#&"��"�"  !�*� �''��#�����'#��� �%����"$�"  .

:$$�#���!��*2��#�� ���#�!1!�� #�#&"��!(�#��)"���'�"! !�#�!�$����#&"�'���"  

�%�$"#"�+����1��%�!)� �,"� '""�&�� ����+��!�2�'����"�+� #�)!�!��"

 ","�!����� �$"�!#��� 2������$��1�%�""$�+��%�"4'�"  ����!�$�;����!�� #��

"4'�"  ���.�:)� "�+!*���#�+""#�#&� �#&�" &��$�!�$�*"#� #����&!,"�!

'��%���$�*��"1!#�,"�*��+'!�#�������������� �!�$�#&"���%!+���" 2

'!�#����!��*��%��#�� ��"'"!#"$.�8"�"��#�� �!� ���+'"�!#�,"�#����� �$"��(&!#

!$$�#���!��,���"�!)���#�" ����!11�!,!#��1�%!�#�� �#&"�"�+!*�)".�<��

"4!+'�"2�#&� �� �",�$"��"�#&!#� �+"�1���' �(�#&�'��#"�#"$

Page 83



��������

�	
�
��
���������
���
�
��
�	��	
�������
��
������
�����������
���
�

�
������
�����
������	����	�����
����������������
���
�������
��	����

������
���	�������	
���
��
���
�����������
������
���

 !"!#$%&�!'(�!)!*+'+,,�-.�%/+�*+0+1!'%�!2+'#$+,

3��
��
�
���
�����	�
���	
�����������	
������
�
����������
���
���
��
��

	
�
�
����
������������������������������
����
��	
����
�
���
�������
��

�	
��
�����
��
������	
����
���
����
��������
���4�5
�
����	
�
�
�


�
�
���������
��
�������	
�5	��
�����	
���������
�����
����	
�
����6�

�������
���
5
�
�
�������	
�����
�����
���
�
�
�������������
���
�����


���
�

���7	����
���

������������������
�������
�5

���	
��
����
�5

�

����
�
������
���
������
����

������	
��
����
���
���	
�
�
����
�
�

�
������������������	
����
�
���

7	����
����
����������
���������
�
������
����
�����
����
���
�

8��������
��������
����	�	�����
��
��
����
����
��
�
������	
������
�


�

��
����	
������	���������
�����
���5����������������
���
�����
��
	

�

������
�
��������
�
��
�
������
���
��	
���
���
�
������
��8
�
����


�����������
�����
���5��	���������
������	
���������
�
���
�
�
�


�	
�
���
����
��

�����
����
���
�
��	
��
��
����
���������
���
�����
��
�����
�������7	
�

��������������
��	
����
�����
��
���	
�
��
�����
��������
�����������
�

�	
����
5�����	
����
�����
���7	����
��	���
���	
���
�����������
��������

��5
�9�
�
�������
�������	
�
���
����
���
��
����������
����������������


��
����
����:�
�
����
���
�
�
������
�5

������
�
��������
�����
�

�

����	
�
������������
����
��
�����
����������
�
����
��������

�������

���������
���
;�
��
��
������������������5	���

����������
��

����
��������
�����
�������
���
����
�
�������	
��
������������
������
���

����������������
��
����
�	
������������
���
���
������
��
����

�
�
������5	
��5�����
����
����
�
��
���5	
��5��6��

<!#=�-.�#0+!*�2>$(!'#+�-'�/-)�%-�(+!0�)$%/�1>0'+*!?0+�"+*,-',

8�����������
��
�
�5��	��
���
��������
���5
����������
�����	
������
�

��������������
�
��
��
���
��

�����
�����
��
��8������������	����


�5
���������
��5	
�	
���	
��
�
��	
������
�������
�
��
���������


�����������
����������
��
���5	
�
����5������
����
�
�������
�
���

���
����	
�����
�������
��
���	
����������@���	
��
�
��������
�
��
��
���
�

Page 84



��������

��	
���
��������������	����������
����
���	�����������������
��	�����

�������	����������
�
���
��������	���
���	�	��

���������
��	����
����

���������
����������	
��������	�����
	����
������	�������������

	���

����	�
������	����������
	����������
	������������
����������������

�����

�
��������������������

�	����
���������������������������	�����



������������
���������
��	��������������


�����
��	����
����������

����������������
����	�������������
	����������	
����������
�������	�

����

����

 ���!��������
�
����������	��	�	�
�������	
��
����������
�����������

��������������
�������
��������	
����	����	!����������	�
���

����


����

������
���"	��������������	��������	�
��������
��
��	���	�
��
����

#$%&'()�*+,(&'�-..(../(0'�1(0',(�2+''3.45566678(+9/+'70+.7:;5.(

,<$=(.5>$%&'()9'+,(&'9&..(../(0'9=(0',(9>'&=5?@AB��������������

�



����
	�
��	����C����������	
���D�	������	���������������������
�	�

�
����	
����	��EFFG�����

�

�����������������	
"�������	�	�	��
�

������
��������H�	�	
��I�����J��	��������������
��	���	�
��
�����

��
�

	���	��	�	�
��
�� ��	
�
�����������������	
�

�������!����
���������

���	�	�	��
��C��������������	��
����
���K�FFF���������
����������������

��	��������

�

����
������	
"����������������������������������
���	��
�

LMNOPNQPR�ST�USVWMWXNV�PWRXSYQRZ

[��	�	�	��
��������
	��	�	����������	��
���	����
��	���	
��
�
����������	�

����
��������	��
������������������
��	���������
��	�����\


�����
�����	��
�������	������������
�	�	�
����
��	����
��������	��������

	�����	��������	��
�������	����
	����
�����
����������������������������


���	��
�������
	�	���������
����������������������	�	]��
�������	��

�!������	��
�������	����������������
��������
��	����
�
��
���
��	�����

��������
���!������	��
��	���	�����	������������

	����	
���C�����
��	�

�

����
���������������������
�������������
��	����
���������
�

����
���������������	�������	�
���
����
����������!������	��
�������	�

���������	��	���������"	����������
����������
��������������	�����	��

��"������	�
��������C���̂_\���
�������������̀a)(b�1a:0=$bba,�1a)(

a>�1a0):='�2+''3.4556667ba=&b7ca<7:;5a:,9.:33a,'5c:$)&0=(9&0)9,(

.a:,=(.5=$<$b$'d93:8b$=9b$>(9,(.a:,=(.9=a:0=$bba,.5=a:0=$bba,9=a0):

='B��	���

��	��	����	���"����������
������������!���
	������

����	��

�	�������
��������
���������	�
����"����

�����������	��
���������

Page 85



��������

�	
��
��
���	���������	���������
������	��������������
������	���
���

�������������������	�
����	��������
���	���������������������������

	�������������	��������������������
����������������������

 !"##$%&$'

(�����	
������
���������������������������
��	������������������

������
����������	�
�����������
���	
���
�����)���������	����	������

�	�
����	���������������
���
��������	
���������*�����������
�������


�	���������������	��������������	��	����	
����
��������	
��
�

��
��	���
���+��������

,-.//0120�34�,56178//59:�;00/�<6/109.=/0�>5�.=6:0�.1?�8//@0A68BB0?
59�:6BB59>0?�>5�-.1?/0�.=6:0C�-.9.::D01>C�.1?�81>8D8?.>851

E����	������������
������	���������	�����	�
����	�����������������������	


������������	�	�������
������������������
���
��������	
���	��
���	��

�	��������
�����
����������	������������������
����������	���������	�����

�
����
��������	����������
�����
�������	���
������

	�
����������F�
�

�����������	����������	
����	����	�������
������*�����������	
����
�����

����������	���	���
������������������	
�������������
����
����


����������
�	���������	
��	
����	
���G	�
����	���������
�������������	�

�������F�����	�������������������	��������	��������+�����
����������
�
�

�
���
����
�������������
����H	��
��������	����������������
�
���
�

����	�������������
	���	����������
����������F������	��	
����
���

���
��������F���������	
������������	��
�������
	��������������	
���
����I

�����������
��	
����
���
��������	����
��	���	����G	
���
����	������

���F�	��������������
��
���
������
�����
���������
���������
�

�	�
����	�����	�������
���
���
����
�����������������
���������������
�

�����������������	���������

J�������	�����	�
����	����������	�����������	���
������������������	�

�
��
������	��	
�	�
���
����
����J	���+�����������������������������

�	
���
����	��������������	���������	�������
����
���	�
��������
�����

�
�����������
�����	���F���������
������
����
����	��������*������


���	
��������
��������
�����
�����	��
����������
���	������
�����

�������������	�
������������	���������������
�������	������	���
��������	��

Page 86



��������

��	
����
��	�����������
����������������
������������������������������

���
�������
	��������
���������������	�
��������������
�����	���������



	�������
�������
������������������	���������	������������������������

 !"##$%&$�'(�)"*+�,-�*#$".�/.,*$00�".,1%2�.$/,.34%&�"510$6
!"."007$%3�"%2�4%34742"34,%�3,�3!$�*,1%*4#�.$01#30�4%�*,1%*4##,.0
%,3�+%,84%&�8!,�3,�31.%�3,�8!$%�"%�4%*42$%3�,**1.0

9�	������������
����������������������
	�����������	�������
�:��������������

���

��

������
�:����������������
����������
�����	
�
���:���	�������


�������:���������	����������	�����������
���
�
	�����������	�������
���


����:������	
�������

��������
�������
������������������;���������

<�:������������	�����
����������������������	�������
��:����������
�����
��

�	�����
���	�����
�������������������
���

���
������
����
	������������

�����������
���������:���=	�
��
���
������	�������
��>
�����
	���

��	�������
��������	��������
����:��������
��	�
������������������	����

��
�:�������
����������
��	�
��������������	
������
��
��
��������

������������:����������;�����������:=��������	
��������������

����

��������������������������	���������?	���
������������
���


���������
��	�����
������
������
������
��	������

 !"##$%&$�@(�A!$.$�40�4%*,%0403$%3�$%&"&$7$%3�"%2�.$0/,%0$�-.,7
3!$�/,#4*$�3,�"510$�"%2�!"."007$%3�,-�*,1%*4##,.0

����
����
����������������������
������	
����
���������
������
�	���


��
�������������
	��
���������������
���
�
���
������
����
	�����

�����
�
������	�������
���
�
������������������������������



�
����������
�����	����
����
���������	�
��
���
���������
�������

�	���������������	�������
�����
������������
�
������������������������

���������
������������������
�
�������
������9��
�?	�������:����	�


�����
�
������
�������������������
	��
��:���������
����
�����	�����


�����������������������������
��������������	
�������

��������


������
�����������	�������
��B����
����	�
����������
���������
���������
���

�������������
�
	���������:����������������
��������	�����

	�
�����������������������	�������
����������
�����
���
�	����������	����

��������
���
��������
������������������

��

����
����������������
���������

��
������
��������������
���
����:����������	�������
������������

	�
�������
�������������
��������������>

�����������������������
����


Page 87



��������

���	
���
�
�������
�
�	������	�
�������������	����������������	��	�	�

	�
�����������������

��
��	�	��	���	��	�	

����
���������������	�����

��	���	����	�

�� !"�#$�%&'()*&+�*,"+)*-*. )*&+� +,�,"/"'&01"+)�0� !"

2���������
����
	������	��	
	��������3	�����	��
	���������45��

��������������	�������	
���������	�������
�	����	6�
�
����������

����


���
���
��	�����	
������	�	
����	��
�
�����
����
�������������

��
�����

���
	���������4�����������4���	����
���

7	��
	�������	�����	��������
	�4	�����
���������	�����������	�	
��


�
�����
������	����		����

	��	
���	�����	�������	����
�����
	������	

�	
	���������������8
���
������������
������	�
��������	���	
	����

	6�	��
��9�	������6�4��	
��:;����	��		
��	�	����������4�������	���

���	
����������

����4�����

���������������
���	�
����<��
�����=��4

��	
	�
	

���
���	
	����	�
��	�	
��	��������	����������������	���
	


����	
�����
���	
�	���������	�������������

�������	���
���
������	�


4���������	
���
�

>*+,*+?!

9�	�4	�����
����	4�
��	��������
����3	����	
�
�	�����
	�	��
�8	�

�������
���������	����
�������
	��
����������������
	
�

@A�BCDEFGEHCDIJKC�ILLDEIKM�GE�INOPCQ�	
���
�
������	�����	���
�����

��
���������
	�
��
	���	6�	�������
��������	�������
��������4�����

�	
�	����
��	���	�

R��4�
�
������������
	���������4��������������
���������
�����
���
����
	

�
����	

5	
���
�
�	�����������

�	������STUVWXYZ[\]T�WT̂[Y_̀T

_Ua[bYX�VW�]Vb[]�STUVbZ[bcd�efYYaXghhiiid]Vb[]d̂V̀djkhaj\]_b[Y_VW

XhST\[YTlWVYlf[YTl_Ua[bYl[\jXTl]Vb[]lSTUVbZ[bcm�2	4�������

��
��������
�4�����	�	���	��		������	
�����������
���
�����

�	�����
	�

	6�	�������
��������	�������
��	��		����	����
�������������

��
���


4�����
�	������������
�����

n	������������o	��5��
	����	����������������
	����
�����
��	�������	���

������
��
�����
�	�
������������

��	
	�������
���	
�������4�������

�	�����	����	�������
��	��		����	����
�������������
�
������

���	�
	��

Page 88



��������

�	
���

	�����������������������
�
�����	
���
�������
�	����

���������	����������
����������������

����������������������

�������
������	
���������
������������
������������������
����������

��	�����	�����������

��
������������������	
���

	���

 ���

�!�����������"������������������	
���

	����	����������������������#

�������	��������������������
������������������"���������	�������������

��

�������	����������!������	���������"����	�����	��������������	����

�	
�����"������������������������
����
���!���
��"��	���"��

�������������$��������	�!��	
���

	��!�
�
���������!������	��	�
������	

�	��
����������
	�������	
����������������������������
	�����

%	��"��!������������������	�������������	
���	������������������
�

�	��
������	��������	
���

	�����	������	
�����������
���������������


���������
������"�	
������������������	��	����������
��"�����������

	���	�	�����������������	�������

&'�()*+,-.�/0�1+/2344�*56�+341/54,7,),-.8��
���
���������������	����

�	�����������	����������������������	����
������	�����	�������



�9
����������
	��������������	
���
��	���	"�����	
���

	���������
��	���

�
������	����	�������������
�������������������

���������	
���

	������

	���������
������	
���

	�����"���	��������
����������	���������	
���	�

��	������������	��	��	���
��	�������������	
���
���%	��"��!�����	
��

�"��������������������������
�������"��������	���
�����	��
����������

�	��������!�������������
���������	���
�������	������	���������

�	������!�����������	
���������
���	����	���	������:;<	�=�����"��
�
�	�

�����������

>������������������	��	������������
�����������������	��	���	
���

	�

���������
	��

��� 	�������
�!�����	
���������	
���
������������	�
��

���������������������������	���
��	�������	
���

	����������
������

����������	������	������������
"����������	�����	�������
	��
�����?��	��
�

�"����	������	��
��"�����������"����
����������	����
����	��������
	��


��������������@����������������
�����������������
�����������

����	����

���	�����������������������
���

;�������	
����	��������	����
���	���
��	�������	
���

	����������
������

����������	��������������
����	���	�������	
���
��������
�������������

����	������
�����

����������	
���������������
��	����
���������

Page 89



��������

�		
�	
��
����		�

���������������
��
�����
���
�������
��������������

����
���������
�����

������
�
��������������		�

�
����������� ����	
������

�� �������� ��
���
����
������
�����		�

� �������	
������������ ��

���������
������������
�����!
�!�����������
�������
���������
!��!���
�

�����
���
����
�������������
�	
������������	
�����
����������	�
�

����
��������
����� � ��
�
�����������
��
��� �������������
��������


��		�

��������	����������
������� ���!��		�

������
���
�
����

"#�$%&'()*+,-).,�/)(-�&*0'&�.*&)0%1�2
���
���������
�
��

���


���
������	�� �
��	������
����	
�������
����
������������������
���

����
�
���������������������
�������������
������
���	������
������

���
��������
�

3�������������������4������
�
���
������	�� �
��
���
�������	��������
���

 �
�����
���
��
������
�����������������������
�����
�!���������������



�������������5� ���
�� �����
���
���
��
�	�����������
��� ����������

 �
��
�������������������������
������
�
��
������
����������
�����

	�

�����
����������������
��������4	
������
����������
��
�	������������



�����		
�	
��
����
�����
��
���
�����������
���
��	�
��
�����
����

������
�
������������
���� �
�����������
��

6�����
��������
���
��
��
�	��������
�������
�����������
�������

�������
�
���������������
�������
�
�����
������
��
��������
�
��
����������

 ���������	���
����������������
����
���� ����
��	�������
���
������


���
��������
�����������
�����
�
�����
���	
���������
����
����
��� �

���
��
��
�	������
��	����������
������
���������
��
��
��������
��



��
���
���4������
��4��	�������	������
��������
����
������� �
����
����


���������������
���������������������
��

7��

���
�
��
��
����
����
��� �
������
�
��
����

����
���
������	� �
�


���������	��������
��� ����
�
�����
������
����
��
�
���	����������
�
���


����	��������4	�
����������������������
��
�����
��������
�

�4	�
����������
����

�����4	��
�
����� �
������
��������
�����
�

 �����
�����		
�	
��
����
�	������
����
����������

8#�9')&*:%;�:),<�',,%,,=%+(,1�7������
�
����������������������

���������
������	
���
����������
����
�����
�
�����������������	�
�����


�������������
��

Page 90



��������

�	�	
����
	������	
���������	��
��������	
��
���������������������

���
������������������	
�	���������	
������
�	�
������
�������	����

�������
���
	�����	��
��
����
	���	
���
������������	� ��
�	��
������

����	
�������������!� �������
���	
�����"�
������	��������#�
"

������������	�	
�����$�����
�����	
������
��	
��� ��
�	�	
��������%


	
���	
���
�
�����������
�����������
�	��"����	
�	��������
�

�
	�����	��
�����
�����������	
��������
���������
�	
����������
�������	
�	

������	��������������������������	��
����	����
��
�	���"�����������������

��
����%���������
��������������	��	
������� �����	�
�	��������	
�	�	
��

�����
"��
��
���������������	��	
����� ������	
�����&�
�����
�����
���

	�#�
�	
���������
������"��������������
"����
���������
�	
����	���
�
"

�
��������	�
������	
�����
�
�������������	��	������	
��������	�	��	
�

"�
��
��
�����������������
��#����	���#����	
���
�
"�
"���������


	
���������������

�����
	��
��������������������
�����
������
������	���	����	��
������

��		���������	��
�����	��	��
����������	��������
����
	����������	�
���
��

��	� �	
��	����	��
����������
���		�
	��
�	���������������
�����������	��

"��������	��������	���������
��
��� �	
�	
��	
���	���������������

������	���	
�	�	
�������"
�����	
����
����
"���
�	
����� 
�������
�� ���

#��
�	�����
��"���	��	
���������	���%	
��������	
���
�������"
�����	
�

��������	
�����
�����
���
�	���
"�������	�
���
���
���
����
"�	
���

���	���� ������������
	������
��������#���������
	�������#���"��
�	��	���

�
������	��������������#���'��
������������������
������������

�
�����	��
��
������
"������#���������
����
���	
��
������	��

�����
���	��
��������
�	���
"�"���
	��
����"����	
�	���
�
����	�

���
	�����
����	�"�	�����#�����������������
���������	���	�������#���
"�"�
"

 �	
�	
����������
�������������	�
"�����	��
���
�	
������������

()�*+,-+,.,/0�1-231,44-+�504460,378�9���"
�����
����
������
� �����

���
������
�������	����
������� ������
"��
����������	
��
�"�	���

�����	����������
����		��#���
��
��	���������
	������

&�
����������������
	���	
�	����
������� ������
"���������
���""��

��
������	��
�
� �	
�
��������������:
���$���	�	��
�����	
���������

�����	��	�����	�;����
���������������
����	�
��
���	� ��������������	���

Page 91



��������

�	�
��
�����
���
	��������������
���
���
	������
���������������

����

���


�
������
�	��������������
�����
��������
��������
��
���

��
���

�
��������
�����
	�
�
��
������
���������������������
��������
����


��
����

����������
����
��
������ ������������!��
��
�	�����
�������

��������
����
���
�
������������
�������������

��"������
�
��������
��

�������������
���
�	���������

�������������

����������"
�	���������
�

���


�����#�
��
����
�
���
���
�����������������
�
�����
�������������


�������
����������
�	����
�������������������$��������

����
��������


�����
����������	��
��
�����
�����	�	����
��������
��
�
�������������


���
� �����������
���������!�����
���
�	�!��
������
�����������
�

������
������
��������
�
���������!�����
�	��#�
������
�"�������	����

�����������
�������������
�	�
����������
�	��
��������������
�
����

���	�������

%&'(�)*'(�+,-�.+(/�()0-*/(

#�����
��
������������
	����
������������
���
������
������!����
�
�

����
���������
�����
��
�������
������
��
��
�����������
��
��1�����
������
�

����������
������2��
 �!��������
���
���������	��������

�������

�
��
���
��
����
��
��
������	�������

�


��������
���������
�	�
��������



��
��������������������
�
����
��������
��������������

������

������
 �
��
���
�����	����
�������
������ ���
���������������!
��

�������3�����������������������

4567689:;8�<8=�>?@@;59

A�����
���
�	����������������
��

��

1�����

�����
��
�����
��
���� �

B���

���
��������
����
�����������


��
�
����������
���������
����!
�����
��������	�������������
�������
��

��������
��
�������������
���C�	�	
�	�!����!

�����������������������

!

����
�"�����
��
�
�	�����������
 ����
��
��
���
�����������������
��

������!
���������
��������
�
��
����

#�����������������!�����������
���������
����
�
����	�	����
������

����
��

���������������������������
��������
�
���D����������E

��
���
��
�	���������!��"
�	�	�������������
������
��
���

���	����
�

������
�����������
�
���
	���������
�������������
�����

Page 92



��������

�	
���
�����
���
�����	�������
���	�����
�����������
��
�����

������������������������������������
�
����
�����
�������
��

�
���
���	�����		
�	
��
	��
��	��	
���
�
����	
�
��
�
����

�	���
��	
���	��������	���������	����	���
��

������
��
�����������
���	
��	���
��	
�������������
	��� ���	����

�	������
��	
���
	���
	������
�����	�������
����������	���
�����

�������
��
��	
���
	��	���	������!

"�����	���
���������������	����
��
���
������

����
	��	��������
�����

	��
�����������������
�#�	���
�������
���������������
	�
������	�

�	
���	��
	���
������	��
��
����

����
	�����	��	���
������������

������
��!�"�����������	�����	��
��������
���
�����������	
�
����
	��


�����
���������

	�������
�����������������
���������$��
�
��!�%�
�

�	����
�������	��
��
���������&

�	�
�	

���	��
��


�����	��������
���	�������	�
�	

���	��
��


���	�
��
����
�
���

������	���	�
�
�����
	���	��
���

�����������������

�	����
���������

�	����
���
	��

�	����
�������������

������
��	�
���!

'
����$��
�
����
	�����
���
�����	������
������
��	���
����	���
	��

��������
	������	
��
�!�(	
��$�����#�	����	���
���������

�)��
�*	�
��

+����
	�
�
��	
�
�����������	�
��	
�����������
�����	���
��	
�!�,	�
��

�	����������������������	���
�����������
���������������	�
������

�����������
��	
��#��
	�
������
��������	������������
���	������������

�
���������	��
��	���
��������	
�	���
��

���!�-�����.
���.	���
�����

���

��$
��
���������#������������

�/0��	�
�..%1�����
�#��	�����
�

�	���
��	
������������	
����
���������
	�����	����	
��
����
��������

������
��	���
�����

��	����
�
����
�
�
���
��
�����!

Page 93



��������

�	
�	
��	
	����	���	�
��	��������������	
��
	���

	
��
�����	
����
������	
�
��	
 �
���
	��

!"#$%&"'�("#$)*&�*%�+,-*$.�%+/0%�+"�,112/%%�3,2,%%4/$+

,55/)+*$.�*+%�/&/)+/1�4/46/2%7�8"&&"'*$.�+3/�0,%%*$.�"5�,�4"+*"$

69�+3/�)"#$)*&�*%�$"'�'"2-*$.�"$�%/++*$.�#0�,�)2"%%:

"2.,$*%,+*"$,&�'"2-*$.�.2"#0�'*+3�/;0/2+�2/02/%/$+,+*</%�52"4

1/4")2,+*)�%/2<*)/%=�&/.,&=�3/,&+3�,$1�%,5/+9=�,$1�"+3/2�2/&/<,$+

1/0,2+4/$+%7�>3/�0#20"%/�"5�+3/�.2"#0�'*&&�6/�+"�#%/�+3/�<,2*"#%

/;0/2+*%/�+"�*1/$+*59�/4/2.*$.�*%%#/%�,$1�.,0%�*$�%#00"2+�,$1

1/</&"0�%"&#+*"$%�+3,+�'*&&�3/&0�+"�02/</$+�,$1�1/,&�'*+3�+3/%/

*%%#/%�'3/$�+3/9�,2*%/7�>3/�.2"#0�'*&&�,&%"�'"2-�+"',21%

)2/,+*$.�,�3#6�%0,)/�"$�+3/�*$+2,$/+�'3/2/�4/46/2%�),$

,))/%%�,&&�+3/�$/)/%%,29�*$5"24,+*"$�*$�"$/�0&,)/=�*$)&#1*$.

,))/%%�+"�)"#$%/&&*$.�+32"#.3�+3/�/40&"9//�,%%*%+,$)/

%)3/4/7�

>3/�)"#$)*&�*%�,&%"�)"$%*1/2*$.�02"<*1*$.�+2,*$*$.�"$�/4"+*"$,&

*$+/&&*./$)/�,$1�%"5+/2�%-*&&%�+"�3/&0�4/46/2%�02/:/40+=�$,<*.,+/

,$1�1//%),&,+/�+/$%*"$%�'3/$�)3,&&/$.*$.�*%%#/%�)2/,+/

0,%%*"$,+/�2/%0"$%/%�*$�+3/�)"44#$*+97�8#2+3/24"2/=�+3/

)"#$)*&�*%�/$)"#2,.*$.�,$1�5,)*&*+,+*$.�2/%0/)+5#&�,$1�)*<*&

)"$</2%,+*"$%�,6"#+�%/$%*+*</�*%%#/%=�%#)3�,%�4*%".9$9=

6/+'//$�*+%�/&/)+/1�4/46/2%7

>3/�.2"#0�'*&&�,&%"�)"$%*1/2�'3,+�+3/�)"#$)*&�),$�1"�+"�02/</$+

,6#%/�,.,*$%+�)"#$)*&&"2%�,$1�'3/$�+3/�)"#$)*&�%3"#&1�%+/0�*$

,)+*</&9�02"+/)+�4/46/2%7�8"2�/;,40&/=�*+�*%�%"4/+*4/%

,002"02*,+/�5"2�+3/�)"#$)*&?%�&/.,&�1/0,2+4/$+�+"�+,-/�"</2

)"44#$*),+*"$%�'3/$�)"22/%0"$1/$)/�*%�,6#%*</�,$1�</;,+*"#%

,$1�+"�'2*+/�,$�"55*)*,&�&/++/2�*$5"24*$.�+3/�2/%*1/$+�+3,+�+3/

)"22/%0"$1/$)/�*%�$"�&"$./2�,002"02*,+/7�>3*%�*%�,$�*40"2+,$+

%+/0�+"�/;0&"2/�,&&�,</$#/%�6/5"2/�+,-*$.�,$9�5#2+3/2�,)+*"$7

Page 94



��������

�	
���
�������������


����������������������������  �!"����������!��"������!�"������#

�� ��"���$�"%��!�!���&��������������'��"���$�!��(&�����%�#�"%�������������

��  �!"�"%�'�"����)���"����*��������"%�*�������"�!+�,��������'�*�#��%

"���������!��$�"%�*��������#� ��������"����"�#%�"���  �!"�����)����-����!

#%�"%�!����������!������-������! �!�"�����"���.��"���� �������+�/�*

 ���������������������0

)�.�"�������' ������"�1� �������

����2#�!(�!� �����������3�!� �!��������$�"*� �������

!���� "��$�"%!��"� �������

�������'����� �������+

4%�!���� ����*����1"��  !� !��"�&������������������� !��"�����.�' ���

������  �!"����������!��"��'�(����$�!'������������+�5%��678�%����

9:;<=>??:@�A;>BC�D:�EF<B?><A�FG;HC�F<B�><D>I>BFD>:<�JEDDKHLMMNNNO?

:=F?OA:PO;QM=:;<=>??:@HRA;>BCREF<B?><AREF@FHHIC<DRFG;HCRF<BR><D>

I>BFD>:<S&�#%��%������������' !�%����)���������'�������������+

T�#�)�!&���'�����������%�)����)��� ���"%��!��#�����������"����!���"�

��������!��'�"�����0

U?FGV�W>HD@>=D�9:;<=>?�A;>BC�R�XC@H:<F?�YFZCDV�[;>BF<=C�Z:@

9:;<=>??:@H���������JEDDKHLMMN\OG?FGVOA:PO;QMBC=>H>:<RIFQ><AMB:=

;IC<DHMH\]̂_̀MXC@H:<F?abcYFZCDVabcZ:@abc9:;<=>??:@Habc

Rabc[deWfg9habcibOKBZS

U@FBZ:@B�jCD@:K:?>DF<�W>HD@>=D�9:;<=>?�R�[;>BC�D:�XC@H:<F?

YFZCDV�Z:@�9:;<=>??:@H�����JEDDKHLMMNNNOG@FBZ:@BOA:PO;QMEF<BHMB

:=;IC<DHMYFZCDVabc[;>BF<=CabcF<Babce<Z:@IFD>:<MXC@H:<

F?abcYFZCDVabc9:;<=>??:@Habcbcb̂OKBZS

klmnonop

,��������!���!��������*� !�)�����#�"%�����"��$���$�!'�"�������� ����-�*

"!�������#%���"%�*�$�!�"�-���'�������������!+�T�#�)�!&��"1���' �!"��"�"�

!� ��"�(�*�"!��������$"���"������!�����������!���!��#�����q��  ��

"%!���%��"�"%��!�"�!'+�,�''���� "�����$�!�"!��������!������-�������

��"�'���"������������0

 �!��������$�"*�����!��(�������'��"

Page 95



��������

��	
���
��
�����
�
��������
�
����	
�
�����
�

��������	�

��
	��
����������������������

�
��
�����
�����
���	�

	����
	�������	����
��

	�������	����	��

������ ����!
�������
�
��������������
��������
��������������
	������

�������������	���	
������
��"��������#���	
������	����		�������������
��

���
����������������$%&%'%()�%*�+,-'%.�'%/0�1,-�21((+345566678998'07.9

:530;<.1=>?.%&%'%()@%*@+,-'%.@'%/0A<'B?C$CD$EFG0*DFHICDFHIC

A9>?A;>3?.1<9:07C7JI%KI'LMN%CLC%OLL%KCPMJI%JN'LMJI%JK7PCCOMNMQA

39,<.0%R?.1<9:0A%0?STUVHW�

XYZ[\]�̂_Ỳab�̂_Ỳcdef�ghd̀i�h_cd\e�]jkd\�h\ljeb

����	���	
��������!���������	�
�������
!����	
���
��
������m
�

�������
����	���	
�����������	
���
��
���������������m
��
�	�����

����	�
����������!
����	���	
�����������n����
������	�

����o

�����	���		�����o���������	�������
�m����������
������������

���
��������	���	
����	����������������������m
��
���		�����	�

n
�������	
!
�
������������	����
��������	
���
��
�o�����
�������

����	
!
�
������������	�����p�	��
��	��������
���n
�������q�	
������

��	���#���	
��#���m�o�r��
����� ���	
��
�����	���#���	
��o�s��

t�
	��u���������#������ ���	
��
���o������
��������
��
�

	�
�������
!�������		���
�����������	���	
��������

��������m
��
���������������������������	���	
�v�����
�
��������	
��


��
��n�
	��
��
�������������������
	����������	�
	�������
���

�����
�������������������
�
���
��	����	��������������������
����

�����������n����	�

��
	��������������	
���
��
�����
�
!���

����
���
���n
�������	���	
�w��	�������	����	������������n
��

���	�
	�������
��������	����	�����������	�

��
	��
�������


����	�!�����n���������������������	
���
��
���		���������

m�������
���	��
	����������

Page 96



��������

��	�
��

�����
����
�
����
��	���	
���	��������
�����	���

������	�����	
���	����	�����	�������	
���	��������
���	��	��

��	����	��������	
�
	
	������������������
���	������	�
��

��

��������	���	� ���

	� 	��		
��������
�������	��
���	��	
����

�
��
	�	
����
�	
������
��

��������
���	���	
�������	���

!"#$%&'&()

*��	�
��

������	�
����������
������
�	�����	
�
�����
����������
����


��

�����������������	�����
������	�������������
���	���������	��


��

���������	��
������	�����
��	����	����	�+�	�	��� ��	�

*��	�	,����	�������	�����	
�
�����
����������
�-

.��

����������	� 		
�������	��������	���
������	���������/���
�


����������������
���	������
	������������
����	��
�
����	
����
���

�����������

	����	�	���	�����
�	���������
�������� �	�����������
�

�
����	���	����� ��	������
�������
�����

���
���	������������
���

*��	�
��

���������������	�
��

���������������	�����	����
	����


��

�������/�������
����	������		����	����	���
����
��
��

��


�� 	����	�����	�������
�
��	���
��

������������
�

	
���
���	�

���	� ��
����	����	
���	��������	���
�����
��

��� ���
	���

*��������/�
��

�������
�
���	������������������	��������
	


�� 	�������	������
	����
	����������������	�
�
�	
�	

	���


�����
���
����
	����
	/� �����������������	�
��

���������� �	��
	


�� 	����	
���	�����
�����
������	
	��	�
������
���������	�

�

���
��
������	�	
��
���
����
��
�� 	����� 	�
����	��

0����
��������	�����	�
���
����
��������� �	��.��

����
����

��������
��

�����������	�������
��������	����
���	���
��

���	����

����	��	���1��	�	�/�
��	����
�
���	�����
�������� 	����	
��������

����	
�������	� ��
�	��	�������2��
�	��	������
�����
�
���
��

���	���������	/��
���������	�	���	��������
����������	�
	�
�	
�����	


�
�	
�������	�	�����

.��

�������	
���	�������	���	
����
�������	������������
���

����
����

������������	�
������
���
��
	/�����	�����
��
+�	���
/����������	��	���3�

��	�	���	��
��
�

	�
��� �������	�������� ��	�����
�����
��

�����/

Page 97



��������

��	
��
����
�����������
��
����
�����
	�
�
���	�����	�����
���	������
��

���
���
�����
��

����
���	������	�
�������
�������	���������������
������

������
����������
����
��
	�
������
�������������	
������
��
���	� 

	����
�	������
�	�����	�����!
����
������
�����
����������

���

�"���
�
������!��
�������
�

�

#$%&�'%%(%%)(*+�'*,�)$+$-'+$.*

/�������������
���	����������	
�������	����
�
�������	�����
�

������

�	�����
����������
�����
��
�������
�������	����

�!����	������
��	

��
�����	�
�
����
��	��������������������
�����
������������
�!��
������

0�����	�������	
����
���	�	�
���������

�	����

���
�����
����	����	��	����

���
�����
�������!
����
������
	���
�
�������	������
�����������������

����
�	������
1�����������
���	�	�
�������������

�	��2
1������	
��
�
��



�������
��
������	���
���	�������������������
���
�������
�����
����
�

�����
�������
�	��
���������������������!
���3��	���	������	�


���	�������
��
���������������������
�������
�!
��	����	��������
��


���
����	�����������
�����
��
������������
�������

�	�

/�������������
���
�����	������	�������
�������	
����������

�	��
�

�����
���	�����	�������������
�����
���	���
���
����
�	�����
���
�
��

����
���
�
���������������0�����	�����
���
���
����	������������	���
�����!�

�������	��
�������	
�������

�	����	����	��

��!������	����������	������	



�������	�������������
�������
���
�����	�����
����	���	�������

��
���
��������
���
���������
������
���������

�	1�������

2������
�����������	������!���!
��
���	����������	��
����
��������

�	��
�

��
��
�����������	����	�
�
���
�����������
���	�
��	�
����
���
������4�	

�"���
��������������

�	�����
�������
������
���	������
�
���������1


����������
��!���	���
�������������
��������
��
�
�����	�������1


�
���������
���������
����
��
��

�����
��
���	�����	����
�	��5�����


������	������!���!
��
���	����������������
�����
��	�����
��������������

�	���
����
���
��	���������������������	��
�����!��
�
������������
��6���

��
������	����������
����	�������
�������������������	������
���������

������������������
��	�
������
��	���
����������
���
��	����������	����


�	���������
��
�����	��
����

Page 98



��������

�	�
���
�
��
�����������
�������������
����
���������������������������
�

�
���������������
�
�������
��
���	�
��������������������

�
�����
����


�������
�����������
�
�������
�������	
���
���������������������	���

����������
����	�
��
��
�
��
�����������
��������� 

!"#$#%"#�&%'(�'()�*+,%-)

��	�
��
�������
������
.����
��������������������������/���	�
���
����


������ �0�.���
�����������
���	�
���������������������
��
�
����
��


����������
���������������
�����������������
�������
��
1��.����
����/��


���
���
�������������.�
��
���������������
��
������
�����
��.��
�

��	�
��
��������������
��������
����
��
���������.��
����
��
����������

�������	��������������
��������
�� �2��

���
�
��
��
�����
�3��


������
�������
���.����
����������������������� 

0�������������
���������		���
�
�����������	�
����������.�
��
��

���������������
������
����.���/���	�
���
�������������
����

��

�����
����
���������
�	��������
��������������
��
���������




����
��������
��
�
������������
������	������������
������
���

���������.�
� �0������
����������
���������������������
��
���

�����
���
�����.��
��
����		���
�������������/���
�������

����
�

	��
�
�����
���������
��/�������������������
���.�
����������

����
������������
 

2
��
�����

����������
�������
.������������
�������������


���������
���
�����������������������������
����������
��������	


�����

��
�����
��.��
��
���������������1
��������	�
�����
������ 

4��������������������������������
�������

��������������.�
�

��
��
������
���������
��
�����������	�����������������
������

���
������	�
��
���
�
���������	���
��/��������������
�	��� 

0��������������

�����������
������
�����
��	������������������


�����
��������
�����������
�����
������
��������
�
��������	�����

�
��
1��
���������.��
����������
������
���������������
��������
�

������������.�
� 

56789::;�<=>?@69A�<=99BC=7BD6=?�E6DF�G=96@:�B?H�G=96D6@B9

GB7D6:;�D=�:IC:H�;BJ:DK�=?�HB69K�B@D6L6D6:;��

Page 99



��������

�	
��

�������	����������
���	�������
���������
��	����	�������


����	��	�	���	����������	���
�����������	���
�������	�����


����	�����

��	�����
����	�
������
�
�	���
����	
�� ���
������	�


�����	��
������
�	�	�����
����	���������������	��	����
������

���	�
���
�
��!���	������������	�����	�����	�

��
������
"

�
#
���
������������

�������

�����������

�����

�����	���
���$�	���
���������

���	�
���
�

��
�	����
��
�����


�����	���
������
%�

	
��
���
����
����
�����
����

&
���� ���
"�����	�#��#
��	�����	��������
�
��
������
����	�
�	�

�
��

�'�	�����	����$�	�����������
������	������
����	#
�"

���
�������
�	���
������
����
�������	��	�	���	����"��
��	������

����
�
����

�����	��������
�
���
�
�
���
��
�������	�
�������



��
������
������	��	����
�
�
�"�	�����	�������
�������	���
���$�	�

�����
������
���

�����������	���
���

����

������
������
�����



���
�
���#�	����
������
��������


�������
��������
��	����
"


%�

	
��
���"���
���������
��
���
����
�����

&��
��
�������
�
�
��	�����
(��������������	���
���������	���
�

�	���
%�

	
��
�����
�����	��	�	���	�� �����	�'���
"���
���
������


���

������
�
�	���
�������
"������
��
��

�"��

��

����

�����
���
��	����
"��������
���)����	����	�����
����	�




����
�"������
�������
#
����������*�

�������	����




���	����	��

+,-,./-.�012-0/3314�/-5146,7/1-

�����	���
���

�

�

�
����	#
�������
	
�������������	�	
������
����




����
�"��	�����
	
�

�	�
�����8����
������	��������������
������	���
����

��#
���
	
����
����

�������	��
�������
�����������

���
����
"��





���	�����
�
�
��	�� ������
������	���
��	�
����������
�

�	��

���

�
���	�
"�	��


�����&	��
�9:;<������	���
����#
�������
����	���������

��
	
������������
	�"��

��������
	
�����������

�
���

��������
	
�����

���

����=��
#

 ���
"���"���	�����
����#
�����
���

���
����

�����

Page 100



��������

�	
���
�����
����
������	
����
�
�����������
��������������������	��


����
��
���������	
��

���
�����	���	��	������

�����������
�������

���
�

��������������������������	
�������������������
������������
�����������

����
����
��	
������������
�������	
��

��
�
����������
������
����
�
����	
�


������������	
����
�
����������
�������	
��
�

���������
���������
��
�

����	
���

������
 
����������
��
������������������!��
�
����	


�	�
�	���������	�����������
����������������
���������������	���	����
��
����

���������
��
���������	
��	
��"�����
������#�����$��
���
����%��	�

&���'�"(��
�������
������������������
������)���'�������	
����������

���	��
*�
�����	
�
��	
�
���
��
�������
�����
��������
��
���

������������)�

&��
���������
��������������������
�
�����	��
��	
��������������

������
�
�����	
���
�������
����
���������
�����������
���
������

!��
�
�������
����������������������
��
���������	���	����	
��'������	


�
��
��	
��������
+�
��
��
��	
��������	��
��
*�
��
��������		���

�	����������������,
������
���	����	�����	
�
�
����������
����
�����	


���������������
���������'�������
���	�����
�����������������������	
��

��������������'
�������
���
��������

-.//012�.34.5/6/0718

"�������������������������
�������������������
����
�������
���
�����
�
����

�	
���������������	���

���
��
��
������������
��
����
�
�����

����'
������	��
����������
�������
������	
��
���
�������	
������������

(�������
�������������
������	��������������������
����
����	��	
��

�
���
��������	
�������
��
+�
���������

���
��	
����
��������

��������

������
�����������������	�����
������������������
���
���������	
���	
�

�	��������
����
��9	���������

���������������������������	
������

�������
������
+����
���
�����������
�����
����
��������
�����	����

����������������	������
���'��	�����

��
�������
������!��
�
��

����������������
+�
����	�����������
������
�������	����
��
����������



���
���
��

Page 101



��������

�	
���
�
�����
�
�����
���������������������

�� �!"#�$%&'()� *�+,-,./0�1,.,23456,7�-8,9/413�:;<�1;841,00;<5�=6

..75>??@@@A0;1/0A-;BA8C?;8<D5877;<.?-8,9/413D/49D<35;8<135?1,B,0

,.ED78F0,1D0,:3D<35;8<135D1;841,00;<5?6/490,4-D/F853D/49DGH�I�(J�

(KJ'%* )�(KLMNOP$�(J)�) QQ(KN�M%Q�Q� �R%' )�ML� KNPN S KQT

�� ) �O%' )�) Q�M%Q�J' PO'U�I�PQ�IP)�I 'JMS V�(KJ'%*(KN�* &PQ 

PK*�*()PNO  S KQV�&%Q�Q�PQ�P&%) V�Q�O PQ)V�LP') �(KLMOSPQ(MKV

PK*�*()JO(S(KPQMOU�'PKN%PN �MO�)QPQ S KQ)�IM%'*�O )%'Q�(K�P

J ))PQ(MK�(K� KNPN S KQ�PK*�& (KN�&'MJW *�(L�MK�)MJ(P'�S *(PT

�� ) �O%' )�I O �(KQ K* *�LMO�MK'(K �JMSS%K(JPQ(MKV�&%Q�JM%'*

& �PS K* *�LMO�MQ� O�S *(%S�ML�JMSS%K(JPQ(MKV�(KJ'%*(KN�(K

$ O)MK� KNPN S KQT

��()�P$$OMPJ���P)�&  K�P*M$Q *�&U�MQ� O�MONPK()PQ(MK)�Q�PQ� KNPN 

I(Q��Q� �$%&'(JT�XMO� YPS$' V��OPK)$MOQ�LMO�!MK*MK�MLQ K� KNPN )�I(Q�

O )(* KQ)�PK*�& '( Z )�(K�) QQ(KN� Y$ JQPQ(MK)�P)�QM��MI�P�S  Q(KN

)�M%'*�& �JMK*%JQ *�P� P*�ML�Q(S T��M�)%$$MOQ�Q� �P(S�ML��PZ(KN�P

S%Q%P''U�JMK*%J(Z �S  Q(KNV�Q� U�%) �P�� OS)�ML�#QQ K*PKJ �*MJ%S KQ

QM�) Q�M%Q�Q� (O� Y$ JQPQ(MK)�LMO�Q� �S  Q(KNV�I�(J��Q� �J�P(O�ML�Q� 

S  Q(KN�S%)Q�PJWKMI' *N �PK*�PNO  �QM�P*� O �QM���()�PNO  S KQ

S PK)�Q�PQ�(L�P�S  Q(KN�& JMS )�P&%)(Z �MO�(KP$$OM$O(PQ V��L!�)QPLL

O ) OZ �Q� �O(N�Q�QM�Q OS(KPQ �Q� �S  Q(KNT�[K�P�JM%KJ('�) QQ(KNV�Q S$'PQ 

Q OS)�ML�PQQ K*PKJ �JM%'*�)%$$MOQ�JM%KJ(''MO)�QM�) Q� Y$ JQPQ(MK)�P� P*

ML�IPO*�)%ON O( )�MO��MS �Z()(QMO)T�[K�P**(Q(MKV�Q S$'PQ �O )$MK) )

 Y$'P(K(KN�Q�PQ�P&%)(Z �JMSS%K(JPQ(MK)�I(''�KMQ�& �O )$MK* *�QM�PK*

) QQ(KN�M%Q�JMOO JQ(Z �PJQ(MK)�IM%'*�� '$�JM%KJ(''MO)�O ) Q

JMSS%K(JPQ(MK)�PK*� KLMOJ �O%' )�ML� KNPN S KQT

\����
�����]�
��������
̂��

R ) POJ��&U�Q� �!"#�LM%K*�Q�PQ�)MS Q(S )�Q� O �PO �$POQ(J%'PO�QO(NN O

 Z KQ)�MO�* J()(MK)�Q�PQ�PO �P�JPQP'U)Q�LMO�P&%) V��POP))S KQ�PK*

(KQ(S(*PQ(MKT�_MS Q(S )�Q� ) �PO �%K Y$ JQ *V�&%Q�MLQ K�Q� �JM%KJ('�()

PIPO �ML�Q�PQ�P�* J()(MK�()�JMKQ KQ(M%)�& LMO �(Q�()�SP* T���()�$O(MO

WKMI' *N �$O ) KQ)�PK�M$$MOQ%K(QU�QM�$OMZ(* �$OMPJQ(Z �)%$$MOQ�QM

Page 102



��������

�	
���

	����	���
���������������������������������������������

�	

	��������������	��������	����	��
������	���	����������������	����
�

�	������	�������	����
������	�����	�����	����	�������
�
����������������

������

�	��������������	�����
�������	

	������������������	
���
�	��
	��


�������

 �	�����������������������������	���	������

���	������	
�����
������

��	�����������
�
�����������	��	
���

	���������
��������	����������	���


��������	�����������
�����������	�����	���	����	�����	�������	�����

!��������	
���	���	��
�������	������"����	�����
���	���	���
������"

����������	������	�������������	�
������������������������
�	���
�

�	
���

	���	�
����

#$%&'()*+�&,-�.),-*./

�	
���

	�������
�������	��������
	��
��	��
���������������������	����

�
���������������	���0��������	��������������������������������1���	���

�	�������
�������������	����������������23435�6785986:3;�<=�6>?:89�:8=3

@ABB6;CDDEEEFG<4F>HDG<4375I35BD6>?:89JB8<5;DBA3KLK6785986:3;K<=K6

>?:89K:8=3DBA3KLK6785986:3;K<=K6>?:89K:8=3KKMN"�	�������

�������OP	
��

�������
��OQ

��
�
�������

���������

	�R��������

���	
�����
���

	�������

�	�����


����������

S�����������������	��
���������"������������
��������
����������	
�����	�

�
�
���	��������	

��������	��������������������������

������		�

������	
��������������	��
���

�	
���
���������
������	���������	
���

	���	���	���	��
�������
���

������	���������������
��������������	

����������������	�������
�����

�	
���

	���	���������������������	��
����T�������	���������	
���
�

��	

�������	����
�������������	���	���	��
��������������	������

����������
��	����������	
���

	����	�����
������������������	
������

���	
���������������������	����������

�������������	��
����U���

Page 103



��������

��	
���
����
�	
�����������������
����
���
��
�������
����
����
��	�
���

������������	����
�������
�

������������
��	��
����������������
�����


���	��������
��
��������
���
	
��������������������������������

��	���
������������
�����
������
�	�
��

����
������
����
��������	���

����
����

�� !"��#$% �&'( )%�*# ' ! �%�+,''*%-..///0 12&3%1")0/

"�$%./*4! )'$)'.&*� "3%.5678.69.: 3$�4; !"�4<$% �&'( )4=# ' ! �4

> #4? 11&)('@4")34A /)4? &)!(�%0*3>B��������
����

C�	�
����

D

�����	���
��

E�	���

������C��
����
�
����������
��	��
�����
������
�
��

C��������

��
�F	�
��C������
��
�����	��������������
�	�������	�
����

����������������G������	
�����
	�
���	���

������������������	���������

������
�����H
�������
����F	
������
���	�������
�;IJ�K(L('"��!('(M$)%,(*

L&(3$�+,''*%-..///0� !"�0L N0&O. &#4%&** #'.L&(3")!$4")34#$% &#!

$%.!(N(�('@4*&2�(!4�(>$4#$% &#!$%4! &)!(�� #%.,")3�()L4"2&%$4")346B�

PQRSTUQV�WXQXYUWUQV

Z[\\]̂_�̀ab�̂c\]̂_dae�fcgh̀adifi

E�	���
������
����	��������	���

������������C����
���������
�����

�

�	��������
������	�����
�����
��
�������
���	���
�������������	�����

��������
����j�������������������
���	���

����
F	��
���k��
�
�����
�

������
������
����������	�
��������������������	���

�����

������
��

��

��
�
�������������������������������������
C����	
���������������������

����	������
��

E�	���
����	
����C����
��	�
�������

���
���������������	���

�����

����

�����
��
��
�����
���
C����
����

��l���
����

����
�m������n���	��

���k�	��
�������
�

��������o��
p����p����o�����
������
���	���


������
����
�
���	���

������

��
���

�������
����

���
��


����

������������

q��C���	���
�����
�������

������������������������	���

������
���	��

��
��
�������

��������	�
�����	������������
���	���
�����
���������	���


�����	���
��G���������������������
�
��
��
����	����
���	���
��������������

��	���

����j����������������������������
��	�����������
��

������

���

���
���������j��C������	�p��p��	������	
��

Page 104



��������

��	
���
���������������������	�
�����������
��
��	
�	�	�������
��
���

���	���
�
����
�������	
����������
���������� 	�������
��

	����
�
	��

��
���������
��������
��������!"#�����
������� 	�������	�$���

��
��

	�	�	�$%

���
�	�
�
��������
���
����	
�����������
��
	����������������������	
�

	
�	��
�
� �	������� 
���
$��
��$
	
�
����������
�
��
����������

����

��
����
����	��
�	�	��%�&��	
����
�	�
����������
������ �$
���

��
������	
'

�������������	�	�
�����
�
�������������������	�	
���
��������

���	�������	
�����������	

�
���	��	��	����������	�����	����������������
	�������������


�
���	��	���
������	�����������
�	�	
��	�
�����������
��

���� !

"
��������������������
����
�������#�������
���	�����		�	�
����������
�

���	������#��������������	�	�����������
�
��	�
��
��������������
��
��

��������$����	��������������������
�������
����
�������������������
����

������	������
��������������������
�����	���
�%�
����	�����������&&&�

'������	�	�������������������������������	����������
�������#�
��
��

������
����
����
	�	��
��
��������	�������	�����(���)���������		����
��

������������$��	�����������������	�����
���	%���)����������	���
���������

#�����������#�����������	����������
���
����
%�	���������	�����

�������
�����	���		���������
�
���
����
%�����������
���������%�����)���

���#�
��
����������������������%�����
����
�����������������#��
��	������

��%��������������������������
�
�����������
�����������	����������
��
��


���
�����������

*�����#������������	�%�	�����������	������
�)���������
�������������	

����	�����������

���
�������#����	������������������������	����

��
���������#��
����
��	���	����		���
������������#�����
	������������

��	���	�������
������������$��	���������
�����	���	�����
�����

��
���������
���	����	������
���������������+�����������
������	�����

����
�	���������������	�	
������	�
����#����	�������	
�����������	��	

����
�#�
��

Page 105



��������

��	
��
��
������
��
���
��

�������������� �� �!�������"��#�$�!���%� ������!��$������ &�$�'���&���

%����%��&�� ��(#��������)�*��!���&�*�� ��(��%��&���$�(#�����!��&�#$�� ��!�

% #�%�$$ ������)!�%!��!��% #�%�$��'�����)�������������+ ���,��!�������

� &���%�� �����% #�%�$�% #$����-�.

/!��% #�%�$�$������ ��& ��� ���'� ���%���% #$���������$������� ��!�

����"��#�$�������'� #��)!*��!��(�!�"� #�����#��%%�+��($�����

��0#�����'��!����!�*���������� &��#��!����(#��1

/!��% #�%�$�% #$��+#�����+$�%�������'$��+ ���� ��% ���%��� ���!�

����"��#�$�)!�����!�*�) #$��(����-���� ��� �% ���%���!��% #�%�$

�'���,�(#��% &&#��%����)��!������� �� ���%����������1

���&#$��2% #�%�$$ ��)����,��!�� �!���% #�%�$$ ���&�'!���'����� ���-�

 "���% &&#��%��� ���)��!��!������"��#�$,��$$ )��'��!��"�%��&� ���!�

�(#���� ������'�'�1

����3���&��%��%#&����%��,�)!�����������"��#�$�% ����#���� ��(#�����

����"��#�$,��!�����%�� ���% #$��% �����#�����%��&���$� ����%���#%!���

!�����&���� �����$-��'�������%��&���$� ��%�"�$�%����% #$��(��+#��#��,

���������4#�%�� ��% #$��(��+$�%��� ���������"��#�$������#%���'��!�&�� 

������1�5 )�"��,�%��&���$�%�����&#���+������!�'!��!���! $��� �

+� ��%#�� ������%�"�$�%����������3���&�$*��3+����"�,�&�*�� ��(�

�#%%����#$,�����%���!�"��#����������% ���0#��%��1�6 ���3�&+$�,��!�

�3���&��%���� ��7 (����8�%-�!�$$�)! ��  -�!��� )��$�������!����!��

�%%�+���'���+��� ��������%��� ��(���%!��'������4#�%�� ��)!�%!

+��"������!�&��� &�!�������'�% #�%�$$ ������� ���%�������9!��!����:���

����9!������9 #�%�$�;%����$�).�<=>?=@A>�B>?C�DEF�<=>?C>A�<GHEI@J�K

L@IMC=DJJ�N=CCOPQQRRRSTD@J@@SGAUQ>RQID?>?QVBW<QXYQZ[\]QZ\̂\S=C_

J̀a1

bcdefg�hicjkl�hicjmnop�qrsidknjt�fucvr�fjw�rvkfuonvenjt

sdiwcmknxr�drofknijvensv�ynke�ker�sionmr��

z#�!�&�9 #�%�$�!�������� �'�% &&��&����� �+� ��%���'

% #�%�$$ ����� &��(#��,�!�����&���,���������&����� ��������-��

�!�������'������% #�%�$$ ���"��*����� #�$*1���/!��% #�%�${�

Page 106



��������

����	�
���	�
�����������������������	��������	��
	��
���	�����

��	�	���	������	�����������	�����������������������������	�����


	��
�������������
����������
���������������	�
�
�
���	���	

��	
��
��������������	���
�������������������������	��
����

����	��������	��

���������	�����
�
�������
���	��
�����������

�
��
����
�����	���
����
����	���������������	�������������	����

�	��������� �����
	��
�����!	���	�����"���
�� ����������������

���������#������
�����
	����������������	��
������	��	���������	

�����
	�
�������
�����������������
���$�������������������


��
���������������������
��	�
	��
���	������������
���	�

�����������	����������	����	���
� ���
������	��
����	��
���
��
�

��
����
��
��������	��
���������������	�������	������������

���
��	�������	���
�������������������������%	��
���	������

��
	�����
��	����	���������
�
�����	������� ��������������


������
���	���	�!�������&����
�����������������
	���
���
��	���

���	��	���	���������'�����
����
�
����������	���
��������������


����������	�����������������	��
�����������������
(���
�
�������


�
����������������	��������	������
���������������������	�
��	�

�	��
���
��	�����

!�����������
������
	��������	��������������������
������������

�����������������	��������������������
��������
���	
�����

�)������������(�����	� �������
�
��������������	���
���


����	��������
��
���������	�����
	��
���	��*������	���	�����


�	
������
�����������+��,
���
��	����	
(�������-��$���	�������	��


���� ����
��
	��	�����������������	�
��	���	��
���
��	� ����


	��
��������
	���
������������	���(���
��	����������������	����

��
���
������
+	�����(���������.��
��	���$������	���	��
�����	�

�������������������
�������
���	� ������	��
���������(�

����	��������
��	�����

)�����������
	���
���
�����������
���
������������	������������

��������
������������	��
	��
���	���	������� ���
�
���	��������

��(����	����
���������
���
����	������/	����������0�	�����/���	��

1���������&�
��������	�����
��
���
	��
�	�� �
����������	�

Page 107



��������

���	
	��
��
�
�����	������������

	���������
	��������	���

������
�
���
	����������
����
���
	����
�����	
���

	�����������
�

����	�����
���	�����������	
����
��
����������
���������������

������������	
�����������	
��������������	�	���	��
�����	�����
��

� !"#$%#"�%&'�#"()*)"&$"

+,,-�./001-2

3���
	����
����������	4�����
	�	����
����
����������
�������������	�

	���������
�����������	���
���
����
������
���
	���5��������������	�����

	�
	����������������������
��������
����������������
����
����	�

��
	�	����
�
���
����������������������
��
	�	
��������������
������

��
���
	�	�	���������������	

��
��6�	
�����
��	����������	����
��
���
	��

���������7�����
�	�
����8

9�����	���
����	���:���	
�
����������
��	����������������


��������
���
	�	�	�����������������	������
���
	����
��
��

����


���
	�����������
��������������	���
����	��
�	����
�����	�	
��

������
����	���������	������������
�

9�����	���
��;
�:���	
��
���
	�
�	��3�������������
������������	��


���
���
	��������������������
����
�������������	�����	�������


��
������	

�

�
��
���
��
������7���	��
�
�����
����	��
�

<���	�����������
���
	����
�����
	�����
	���������	
������	�	
��

����	�
��������
������������	�	�����
����������5�������

	�����������
���
	����
����������	�������������������
��	��

������
���
	����
��������	�����������������
�������	�����	��

������	�����������
	���
���

���
��
������	���������������	���

<	�������
���
	����
�
������	�������	��������
��������	��	�����	�

������	����
�����4��
��
������������������������=>?�@ABCDCEFB

>GAHI�JKKCELM�NODDIMPQQRRRSBAEFBSTAUSHVQFWAHDQAHGXYLLDCZTMXF

Z[XBLF[LGMOCIQIABCDCEFBXEAYIAMCDCAZQIABCDCEFBXTGAHIM\�

]1-̂ _̀�./001-2

a�������������
�������	
����	����������
��
����������
����������	��	��

��
	�	��
���������������
���������������������������	
���
�����������


��������	���
��
	�	
�
�	��
��
�
���
������������������	�
���	������

Page 108



��������

��	
��

������
��
����
��������������������������
������������
��
�

��������������
��	
�����
�
��������	
��

�����
������������
���
�����
����	�

����������������	
��
��������
����

�������	
��

�������������������

���
������������
�����������������������������	�
����������

��	
��

�
���	������

 !"#$%&'!"�(�)*+,�-+..'/.&�./0+'"1

2�	
��

���3��4�����
���������	����
���
���������
�����5��
������

��	
��
�������4�����
�����������	����������������6������5���������

�
���������
����������	��������
������
������
��������������������������

�
����������	�����
��������
������
����������	��7
���2�	
��
����	
�

���������������	��
������
������������	���������������	���
������	�	��

�
������������������
�������	������������������������	�
���

8������
�

�5��������������
�����4�����
������
����������������
��9�
�:

��;�:����:�

3���������������

��5��	��������
���
����
���
��������������

�	���
�������������������
����	
��
�������
����������
���
�����	�����������

�����������	�����
����������������������������	������

2�	
��

���5���
�����
��������5���	
��
���
��
���
���
�����

����������
����

�
����
������
��
���
�����
�
���������	����������������
�����	
��

����

6������5�����������
�����
�������������������5�����	������
�

�����
����
���������
�
�����������	����
����������
����������

�
�����

��
������
�
	�
���

<����������	����������	�
�����
�����
�
	�
�����
����
������	����

��

����
����
����������������
����=
��������
5�������
�������
�������
��������

	
�
����
�������	������
�����������	������������������
������������

������������������
�����������
�
�������������6������5���������������

�
����
��
�����������	�������������
���������	���������������������

��	���������	
��������
�
��
��������������������>�
����
���

�
�5

������	
��
���
������
��������2	�	
������������������
����	����

�����
��5���������������
������
�����������

�
���
����
��
��5���


������������	����������
��
�����	�
���
������������
���5����
���

�
�

����
��������
��
������
��������
���
������������
�������
���
��
�

�����
������������������
�����������
���
���������������
��

Page 109



��������

��	
	����
���
���������
���
����
��
����
���������������������
��
����


	
���
�������������
����
���������������������
��
��������
��������
���

����
��������
������
��������

���
�

�
�����������
���������������
�

��
����
����������
���

��
�������
���������
�������� ���������
������	!���



���������
����
�

�����������������������

����
���

����	��������
��



������������������������
�������
����
����
�����
�
���������

�
�����

����
�����

 �����������
�������������
���
��

����
��
���������������
��
��
����

���
��
���
����������
���
�����������
�!���������	�������
��	�������
��

�������	�
�����
������������"������!�����
�����
���������
����������


�

�
����������
�����
�����������
����
����
��
���������
���
���

�
�����
��
�������
��������������
�����	������������������
�	

���� ���

���
		�
�

������
��
������������

����	����
��������
�

�������������������


���
���
�����

����������#�
����
��������
��������
�����
�����
�����

��
�����������������	����

�����������
��
����������
�����������
��

��
�
��������

����	����
�����������������������
���
���������!��������!

���������������
����������������
�����
�����
������

$��
���!�������������
���
����
�
���
�
��������������

������
���

%������
���
�����	���&���


��������������������
�����
���
�
����
�

�
�������������
�

�
����
�
������������'
����
�����������

��
�

������������


��������
�����

��������
�����
�
�����
��������
��
�������

�

���
�������������
�����
�����������


��������
�������������� ����
�


�
(���
������������������
�����
���������
������

��
���!�������

����	


�����������
��
���������
����������������
��
�����

�����
��
����������

"������!�
���������
��������
����
����
����'
���������

�
�
�

�����
��
�

�
�
����
���
���������������
�
����&
���������������������
�
��

����������
���
���
�������

������������
����������
����
����
�

���
��������
�����������������
�

)*+,�+-./0,+

Page 110



��������

��	
���
�������
	�
�����
�����

��
���
�������	����


���������

��
	���

����
���

��
��

���
�����������
��
��������
��
����

���
�	����
��	�
������


������

�	
� 
!��
��	�������

�


��
���
����������"
��	������
"����


�

�
��

���

#$%%&'()*+

,&$*,)--&'.�(/'&$+/
,-&.0'�1&'2)*+�1)(/

(/0�%&-),0�34,5.06.(
$7)0.4.$%%&'()*+6,

&$*,)--&'.6(/'&$+/6

,-&.0'61&'2)*+6%&-)
,08

9�	���������
�����

�����������
����	�����
��

���
������
��
���:




��
� �
���
�����
���	��������
��

���
������

#$%%&'()*+

,&$*,)--&'.�(&�$.0
.&,)5-�;07)5�.5<0-=

34,5.06.($7)0.4.$%%
&'()*+6,&$*,)--&'.6$

.06.&,)5-6;07)56.5<

0-=8

>
	:����������
��
��:

���	��

�������	����

������
� ��

�������

����
�

�
��

�����
����
��
������

�����
���	�������
� 

����� � 
� ���	�
�

��
������
�����


�����
������

?&--5@&'5()&*

1)(/�%&-),0�5*7
%&-)(),5-�%5'()0.�(&

0;@07�.5<0(=�)*
75)-=�5,()A)()0.�34,5.

06.($7)0.4,&--5@&'5(

)&*6%&-),065*76%&-)(
),5-6%5'()0.60;@076

.5<0(=675)-=65,()A)()
0.8

B0--@0)*+

.$%%&'(�<&'
,&$*,)--&'.�6

C)77-0.@'&$+/
?&$*,)-�34,5.06.($7)

0.410--@0)*+6.$%%&

D0%&'()*+�5@$.0

5*7�0.(5@-)./)*+
%'&7$,()A0

'0-5()&*./)%.�1)(/
(/0�%&-),0�34,5.06.(

$7)0.4'0%&'()*+65@$

?'&..6

&'+5*).5()&*5-
1&'2)*+�+'&$%�&*

,&$*,)--&'�.5<0(=
5*7�E&*0�.(&%

./&%E�;&70-�&<

.$%%&'(�34,5.06.($7
)0.4,'&..6&'+5*).5()

FGHI�JKLMN

OP�Q���OROS

FGHI�JKLMN

OP�Q���OROS

FGHI�JKLMN

OP�Q���OROS

Page 111



��������

��		
��
�����
������
�����	����

���

������

���������������	
�������������

	��������������
�������������������

������

�����
����	

	���	�	���������	�
������

������������
�

����������������
��


���� ����
�	�����

���
���	����������

������

������������
�����������	�������

���!�"�!�����������	
����������
#�������

��


����������$

%&'()*+(,--)%.'/,00-

1.2%)*34'()*+(,
-5

6������������
���	
����
���
���
��������

��

�
�������
7

�������������������
������

��������

�
������	
����������$

.1'8+0'1.&82-,.4,+3

'9%)0*(&,:1'%1-8&,)+
.4,9.'9)-,(15

;����
���������


��������������������

�������������

������������������

�<����
������������������

��
���	�����7

������������������	
������������������	

	���
�����
������
�������

���
����

����������	�	��
�����

�����������������
���7������$

)+8-'=)%>,+3'3%)*9

'()*+(,--)%'.8?1&@'8
+0')+1'.&)9'.4)9'

/)01-'.*99)%&5

A110.�B,&@

B)*+(,-C�B)*+(,--)%
D8?1&@�B48/9,)+.

EF(8.1'.&*0,1.F-110.
'(,&@'()*+(,-'()*+(,

--)%'.8?1&@'(48/9,)

+.5

G-)*(1.&1%.4,%1

B)*+&@�B)*+(,-C
H/9%):,+3

()*+(,--)%�91%.)+8-
.8?1&@�&4%)*34

&%8,+,+3�8+0

01:1-)9/1+&�EF(8.1
'.&*0,1.F3-)*(1.&1%

.4,%1'()*+&@'()*+(
,-',/9%):,+3'()*+(,

B8%0,??�B)*+(,-C

B)*+(,--)%�.8?1&@�'
-)+1�=)%>,+3

01:,(1.�EF(8.1'.&*0,
1.F(8%0,??'()*+(,-'(

)*+(,--)%'.8?1&@'-)+

1'=)%>,+3'01:,(1
.5

IJKL�MNOPQ

"R�S���"T""

IJKL�MNOPQ

"U�S�
�"T"V

IJKL�MNOPQ

"U�S�
�"T"V

Page 112



��������

���	

���
���


����������
��
����
	
��
���������
����

��
����
�����
���������
���
���
�����������


����
����������������

���
����
�����������

���������
�� 
���!

"���
�����
�����
�
��
�� �#������
�$���
��


�����  �
�����

�����
������%����
��&������
�
��
�

����������
'����
��
�����



������
������

�
$�
%
�����
�
�
�� �
����


�
����������
��
����������������� 

�����
$
����
��

���
�
����������
�����������!

(()*+,-*.)/0(+.01-23

+24*)564+2*07/7/
68


�������
������

�
$�
%
����
��
�
$���
���
�������� 
�
���

��������
�
��
���
�
%�����
����

�����$
�����������

����������������� 
��
����������

&����
��!

"�������������������

�������������

�


9����
��������� 


:--;.�<723

<)5/=7(>�?-/5-�*7.@
0..-..A-/2.�2)

.5,,)*2�=)5/=7(()*

.01-23�BC=0.-+.25;7-

.C(--;.+=723+=)5/=7(

+D-/5-+*7.@+0..-..
A-/2.+.5,,)*2+=)5

/=7(()*+.01-238

E-(1)*;�0/;

F*-@7/�<)5/=7(>�G
*7.@+H0.-;

0,,*)0=4�2)
=)5/=7(()*�.01-23�BC=

0.-+.25;7-.C2-(1)*;+

0/;+I*-@7/+=)5/=7(+
*7.@+H0.-;+0,,*)0=

4+=)5/=7(()*+.01-2
38

J0.2(-764

K)*)564�<)5/=7(>
L/;-,-/;-/2

/-2I)*@�.5,,)*27/6
=)5/=7(()*�.01-23�BC=

0.-+.25;7-.C-0.2(-76

4+H)*)564+=)5/=7(+7
/;-,-/;-/2+/-2I)*

@+.5,,)*27/6+=)5/=
7(()*+.01-238

MNOP�QRSTU

VW�X���YZYY

MNOP�QRSTU

VW�X���YZYY

MNOP�QRSTU

VW�X���YZYY

Page 113



��������

���	
��
�����	��
����
���������	�

����������� �!"��#���$�!%&��%!��'��(%�)*+�"$�,-#.!$�"�!/#.��%("0�#�.

���%�!%!�#.���1%�'��#���#�12���&��%��%�#.�!%�%.�3".����3"��#�����3�����

!%�"�%�#.��"�$��4�"�". �#.�!�$�.%$$�-(��(��#��!��%"!��#�"����!�0�!�"�

-"����4��#�-��(!."-�&.# �3��������&%56

7(�$������!%$�"���#�$�#&�"��$%2�("."$$ %���"�!����� �!"��#��$��(�"$8�

0%.�"��"��$%�

3('$��"��"��"�1$�

�%��4�$�"�1%!2�&#��#-%!2�#.��#��%.%!�".#��!�

�(.%"�$�#&�(". �

!�$�.�����#��#&� �$��&#. "��#��

#��"$�#�"��'

"44.%$$�0%
%��#���%.$�-��(

.%$�!%��$2������!��4
�"1��4�3.%0%��"��0%

$�%3$��#��� ����(%�.�$1

#&�$%.�#�$
�#�$%9�%��%$6

)%%!$�:��'�:#�����
(%�3%!��#������#.$

.�$1�"$$%$$�0%��%$

�#�%�$�.%��("���(%'
-%.%�$"&%�"�!�&��!

"33.#3.�"�%
"��%.�"��0%$��&

�%�%$$".'6

7%�&#.!�"�!�;.%1��

:#������-%.%�&"�%!
-��(�"��("��%�4��4

$���"��#�����<=>?
-(%���(%'

�#  �$$�#�%!�"�

��9��.'����#�:(��!
@%A�"��BA3�#��"��#�6

:#������#.$�-%.%�"�
.�$1�#&�"��$%�"�!

"44.%$$�#��&.# 

.%$�!%��$�"�!
�"��#�"��4.#�3$

���%.%$�%!�����(%
��9��.'6�7(%��#�����

�##1��(�$�.�$1

$%.�#�$�'2�3.#0�!��4
�#������#.$�-��(

"33.#3.�"�%�"�!
3.#3#.��#�"�%�$"&%�'

 %"$�.%$�!%3%�!��4
#���(%��%0%��#&�.�$16

7(�$��"$%�$��!'

!% #�$�."�%$�(#-�"
�%" �#&���!%3%�!%��

�#������#.$�.%3���"�%!
�(%�$�33#.��#&&%.%!

�'� #.%��."!���#�"�

3".�'�$�.����.%$��#
�.%"�%�"�$"&%.

%�0�.#� %���&#.��#�"�
��!%3%�!%��

�#������#.$6

CDEF�GHIJK

>L�M"'�<=<<

CDEF�GHIJK

>=�N���<=<<

CDEF�GHIJK

>L�M"'�<=<<

Page 114



��������

��	
	���
�	

	

��	�����

��	��
��
�	�����	��
�������

���������	��
�	�����������	����
���


���	������	�


���	���	
	

������
�
���	��	

	����

��������
���
�	����������	����

�������������	������


��������	����
�
����	
����
������������

������������
��
�

��

�����
������	��
��
��
	����������
�
���	��	�������	�
����
�
�

��


	���������

�  !"#$%�&'�()$#*"+!�*"#�,-.!/�#,+)0!"-12

34567�89:;<9=;�>?@A=94�B@9CD�E�FD<:?A54�G5HD;7�I@9C5A=D�H?<

>?@A=944?<:��������������JK;;L:MNNOPQ64567QB?RQ@SNCD=9:9?AET5S9ABNC

?=@TDA;:N:PUVWXNFD<:?A54YZ[G5HD;7YZ[H?<YZ[>?@A=944?<:Y

Z[EYZ[I\]8̂ _>̀ YZ[aZQLCHb�

3<5CH?<C�cD;<?L?49;5A�89:;<9=;�>?@A=94�E�I@9CD�;?�FD<:?A54

G5HD;7�H?<�>?@A=944?<:�������JK;;L:MNNOOOQ6<5CH?<CQB?RQ@SNK5AC:N

C?=@TDA;:NG5HD;7YZ[I@9C5A=DYZ[5ACYZ[]AH?<T5;9?ANFD<:?

A54YZ[G5HD;7YZ[>?@A=944?<:YZ[Z[ZVQLCHb

d���e<@D�a9:9?A�OD6:9;D�JK;;L:MNNOOOQ<DL?<;E9;Q?<BQ@SNK?TDb

f	
��
�	�������	�
�����
��f	
�	���

���f��������

���
�������

�	����
������	��f	
��������������g�	�������d��
�f��
�����	h�
����


���
���������	����
�����	
��
��d���f��
����	�
���	
�	�
����	�


�����������	����
������
����	������������d��
���
�	�����	�����

ij>�B@9C5A=D�?A�K5;D�=<9TD�C@<9AB�;KD�D4D=;9?A�LD<9?CQ�JK;;L

:MNNOOOQ<DL?<;9;Q?<BQ@SNK5;Dk=<9TDkC@<9ABk5AkD4D=;9?AkLD<9?

Cb

d���l�m��n	�������d
�
��
	������G;579AB�G5HD�?A�;KD�8??<:;DL

>5TL59BA�JK;;L:MNNOOOQ:@o745TL4@BKQ?<BN:;579ABE:5HDE?AE;KD

EC??<:;DLb���
������	
��	����	
���	����	��
�	�������
�
�	�����
���

����pqrs�t���
	��u���������	��	�����d���	�������
�
�����
����	�����

	�����������

��
�	����
��	����	��
�������	����������
�f���	
�


��h����f���
��h�����	��	

�
����
�����h���h����������

�

d���5CR9=D�=5<C�O9;K�:5HD;7�;9L:�5AC�9AH?<T5;9?A�9:�5R594564D�9A

;KD9<�OD6:9;D�5;�A?�=?:;Q�JK;;L:MNNOOOQ:@o745TL4@BKQ?<BNi5AC4

Page 115



��������

��	
��
�������	����������������� !����"���"#���� �!��$%

��!�&

'(()*+,-�./�0,12�34�5)6�1275)839+):1�,+)*2,4,)+�,*
);31612)<�<7((,*=>

?@�ABCD�

E@�AFGHI�JKLFFMNL�OLPQRFS�

T@�AFMULHPRVVLFH�

W@�XMYMPGZ[\F]HP�

@̂�_ZL̀P�aLF�

b@�_c]GZMPd�eNKMHRFd�D]VVRFP�DLFKM̀L�

f@�gMh�PIL�CZMP̀I�

i@�CLP�DGBL�JjZMjL�

k@�aRVL�ORP�aGPL�

?l@�aR]FYZGHH�

??@�mR�ARh�gR]jNGPMRj�

?E@�nGZGNMj�o�OGPMRjGZ�DPGZSMjY�eNKR̀G̀d�DLFKM̀L�

?T@�nFRPL̀PMRj�eYGMjHP�DPGZSMjY�

?W@�DGUGFMPGjH�

?̂@�DepDeD�

?b@�DPRV�aGPL�qr�

?f@�D]VVRFPsMjL�

?i@�PIL�OGPMRjGZ�eHHR̀MGPMRj�RB�sR̀GZ�AR]j̀MZH�tOesAu�

?k@�\IL�D]vd�sGUVZ]YI�\F]HP�

El@�qjMHRj�

E?@�wM̀PMU�D]VVRFP

EE@�wM̀PMUH�AIRM̀L�

ET@�AeAa��

EW@�AdxLFHUMZL�

Ê@�OnAA�[�OGPMRjGZ�nRZM̀L�AIMLBH�AR]j̀MZ��

Eb@�\F]L�wMHMRjy�aGPL�AFMUL�zjNLVLjNLjP�eNKMHRFd�CFR]V�

Ef@�_ZL̀PRFGZ�ARUUMHHMRj�

Ei@�{LMYIPUGjH��

Ek@�DJseA_�

Tl@�ssC�

T?@�AJDse|D̀RPPMHI�nRZM̀L�

Page 116



��������

����	
��
������
�

���������
���
������
���������
�����
�����
��

�����
�� 

!�"���
�

�#���$��
��
��

�%���&������

�'��(��
��
��
$�
��)
�����
$��*�����*
������
$����

�+��)
�����
��,
������"�-��.�$����$��/��0
���&1
����$���2� 
���3
�

�
���,0 ������
����$�4�

�5���1��*
��������
$�	�
$�
�����$�)0 ����6����.*	)64�

�7��(��
��
��
$�
��6
 
0��*
0$����
���

�8��*
�,
���
$��$�)
�������

�����1��(��
��
��
$�
��2��
��
����	��/��������������

�����1��(��
��
��
$�
��9����
�
��(���$����
�
���

����9�,�
:��$��;��
����	��/�����(��
��
��
$�

�#��6
&:�����$�6
�
��-
/��$��$��

�%��3
��
$
���
���*�����(&
��$����<��!�

�'��(�$���:��$���$
��
$
��

�+��2����
�������
���0$��

�5���	
���:�*
������
$���

#7��32��.3
��
$
��2��
��
�����$����0��4�

#8��3��	
���

#���	)(;*��

#�����9�*=>9;	��69���?32(���3

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Annex 3 

 

Reviewing our approach (Creating supportive and informed 
spaces) 

0: Not Addressed: No action taken or significant deficiencies observed.  
1: Partial Implementation: Some measures in place but room for improvement.  
2: Comprehensive Implementation: Meets or goes above and beyond the 
requirements of the statement.  

Prioritise councillor wellbeing: Recognise and 

consider how your council can support councillor 
wellbeing and address the negative impacts of personal 
attacks and hurtful commentaries  

Total score    
Evidence  

_3_ / 10  

Statement  0: Not 
Addressed  

1: 
Partial   

2: 
Comprehensive  

We recognise and acknowledge 
the impact of abuse and 
intimidation on councillor wellbeing, 
ensuring that support services and 
resources are readily available and 

accessible.  

   1    All Members have 
access to a range of 
training resources via 
the Council’s e-
learning system. 
These resources 
include modules on 
dealing with violent 
behaviour, 
harassment, 
victimisation and 
bullying and 
supporting good 
mental health. 

We prioritise councillor wellbeing 
by establishing regular and 
meaningful engagement 
opportunities where councillors can 
openly discuss their concerns and 
access support services as 
needed, ensuring they feel 
supported and valued.  

   1     

We promote a culture of self-care 
among councillors, encouraging 
boundary setting, stress 
management techniques, and 
healthy coping strategies.  

 0       

We equip and resource council 
staff to identify signs of distress in 
councillors and offer appropriate 
advice to support their personal 
wellbeing.  

   1     

We regularly evaluate the 
effectiveness of the wellbeing 
support program, soliciting 
feedback from councillors and 
stakeholders to identify areas for 
improvement and enhancement.  

 0       

  

  

Page 119



 

 

Reviewing our approach  (Creating a risk led approach) 

0: Not Addressed: No action taken or significant deficiencies observed.  
1: Partial Implementation: Some measures in place but room for improvement.  
2: Comprehensive Implementation: Meets or goes above and beyond the 
requirements of the statement.  

 

Identifying and mitigating risk: Consider broad 

risks across our political landscape as well as empowering 
individual councillors’ so we can work together to 
proactively identify risks through dynamic and periodic 
risk assessments.  

Total score    
Evidence  

__3 / 10  

Statement  0: Not 
Addressed  

1: 
Partial   

2: 
Comprehensive  

We equip councillors with the skills 
and resources to conduct their own 
risk assessments, empowering 
them to assess their role, 
responsibilities, visibility, and 
personal circumstances and flag 
when they need support from 
officers.  

 0      No formal risk 
assessment support 
currently exists for 
members 
 

We provide councillors with 
guidance and advice to mitigate 
against specific risks identified 
through their own risk 
assessment.    

 0     See above. No formal 
advice currently 
provided on specific 
risks identified through 
a risk assessment 

We encourage and facilitate open 
communication and collaboration 
between councillors and council 
staff to identify and escalate 
significant emerging risks, fostering 
a culture of transparency and 
shared responsibility in risk 
management.  

   1     

We offer additional individual risk 
assessment and mitigation support 
to councillors if higher risks are 
identified, ensuring that their safety 
and wellbeing are prioritised.  

   1   Whilst no formal 
process currently 
exists, Council staff 
are always available to 
offer support to 
Members if any risks 
are identified. This 
could be enhanced 
through the 
development of a 
formal process with 
named contacts. 

We continuously monitor and 
review the effectiveness of risk 
mitigation measures, including as 
part of post incident reviews, 
soliciting feedback from councillors 
and stakeholders to adapt 

   1   No formal process for 
review exists, but any 
incident will be subject 
to review by the Chief 
Executive, Monitoring 
Officer (Director of 
Central Services & 

Page 120



 

 

strategies as needed and ensure 
ongoing safety and wellbeing.  

Deputy Chief 
Executive) 
Safeguarding Officer 
(Esther Wright) and 
Policy, Scrutiny & 
Communities 
Manager. This could 
be enhanced through 
the development of a 
formal review process. 

 

  

Page 121



 

 

Reviewing our approach (Creating an infrastructure)  

0: Not Addressed: No action taken or significant deficiencies observed.  
1: Partial Implementation: Some measures in place but room for improvement.  
2: Comprehensive Implementation: Meets or goes above and beyond the 
requirements of the statement.  

 

Clarity of process and responsibility: Clearly define the 
process for raising concerns and assign responsible 
individuals within the council to provide support to 
councillors. This includes collaboration across Local 
Authority tiers where relevant  

Total score    
Evidence  

__7 / 10  

Statement  0: Not 
Addressed  

1: 
Partial   

2: 
Comprehensive  

We have established a clear 
process for raising concerns 
related to abuse or intimidation, 
including the roles and 
responsibilities of various 
stakeholders.  

     2  All Councillors are 
able to raise concerns 
directly with the 
Monitoring Officer, the 
Chief Executive or the 
designated 
Safeguarding Officer 
(Esther Wright). Any 
incidents of abuse can 
be escalated via the 
Community Safety 
Partnership. 

We assign specific individuals 
within the council, such as 
designated safeguarding officers or 
welfare leads, to provide support 
and guidance to councillors who 
experience abuse.  

     2 The Council has a 
designated 
safeguarding officer 
who is able to provide 
support and guidance 
to councillors. 

We ensure that councillors have 
access to comprehensive 
information about available support 
and how the council will handle 
reports of abuse, including 
communication channels and 
points of contact.   

   1    Any instances of 
abuse can be reported 
to the Monitoring 
Officer (Director of 
Central Services & 
Deputy Chief 
Executive), the Chief 
Executive or the 
designated 
Safeguarding Officer. 
However, this could be 
enhanced by the 
provision of a 
dedicated Councillor 
support page with 
details of contacts and 
how reports of abuse 
will be considered. 

We equip and resource council 
staff to provide support to 
councillors who experience abuse 

  
 

 2 Senior Council staff 
are able to assist any 
member who is 
experiencing abuse 

Page 122



 

 

and help them to navigate the 
reporting process.  

and to raise this with 
the relevant partner 
agency. We have 
experience of 
escalating incidents to 
Kent Police where 
necessary. 

We regularly review and evaluate 
the effectiveness of the process, 
soliciting feedback from councillors 
and stakeholders to identify areas 
for improvement.  

 0       

 

  

Page 123



 

 

Reviewing our approach  (Creating connections) 

0: Not Addressed: No action taken or significant deficiencies observed.  
1: Partial Implementation: Some measures in place but room for improvement.  
2: Comprehensive Implementation: Meets or goes above and beyond the 
requirements of the statement.  

 

Relationships with local police (and wider partners as 
relevant): Proactively develop strong relationships with 
the police to enhance coordination and foster mutual 
understanding of abuse affecting councillors and the role 
of police in addressing it.  

Total score    
Evidence  

9 / 10  

Statement  0: Not 
Addressed  

1: 
Partial   

2: 
Comprehensive  

We establish regular 
communication channels and 
liaison arrangements with local 
police forces to facilitate 
collaboration on issues related to 
abuse affecting councillors.  

     2  We have very close 
links to Kent Police 
through the 
Community Safety 
Partnership and 
regular meetings take 
place between the 
Chief Inspector of Kent 
Police and the 
Council’s Chief 
Executive. Any issues 
of abuse have been 
dealt with via these 
existing channels. 

We provide councillors and council 
staff with clear advice on the role of 
the police in addressing abuse and 
the process for engaging with law 
enforcement agencies.  

   1    Advice is provided on 
an ad-hoc basis, as 
and when issues arise. 
A more formal 
guidance document 
could assist in 
enhancing this 
objective. 

We promote mutual understanding 
and trust between councillors, 
council staff, and local police 
officers through various joint 

initiatives. This collaborative 

approach enhances coordination 
and fosters a shared understanding 
of addressing abuse affecting 
councillors.  

  
 

 2 The Council has 
adopted a protocol on 
Member/ Officer 
relations, which forms 
part of the adopted 
constitution.  

We have established approaches 
for sharing information and 
intelligence related to serious 
instances of abuse, harassment, 
and threats, ensuring compliance 
with data protection and 
confidentiality requirements. This 
information exchange enables us 
to identify patterns and flag 

     2 We have established 
links with Kent Police 
and other agencies to 
share information via 
the Kent and Medway 
Information Sharing 
Protocol. 

Page 124



 

 

potential escalation, facilitating 
timely intervention and support for 
councillors facing abuse and 
intimidation.  
We establish mechanisms for 
monitoring and evaluating the 
effectiveness of the partnership 
with local police, including regular 
meetings and feedback sessions to 
continually make improvements.  

     2  We have frequent 
meetings (at least 
weekly) with Police 
and other partner 
agencies via the CSP 
(Community Safety 
Partnership) to review 
the effectiveness of 
our partnership. 

 

  

Page 125



 

 

 

Reviewing our approach (Creating a culture of safety and 
respect) 

0: Not Addressed: No action taken or significant deficiencies observed.  
1: Partial Implementation: Some measures in place but room for improvement.  
2: Comprehensive Implementation: Meets or goes above and beyond the requirements of 
the statement.  

 

Zero-tolerance approach to abuse: Establish and 

enforce a local approach that clearly outlines expectations 
for interactions and promotes respectful debate.  

Total score    
Evidence  

__6 / 10  

Statement  0: Not 
Addressed  

1: 
Partial   

2: 
Comprehensive  

We have developed a shared 
understanding with councillors, 
which we promote publicly, as to 
what constitutes abuse and 
intimidation and clarified actions 
the council may take to address 
abuse of councillors.  

   1    The Council’s adopted 
Code of Conduct 
defines what is meant 
by bullying and 
harassment.  

We actively promote respectful 
debate and constructive 
engagement among councillors, 
council staff, and the wider 
community, fostering an 
atmosphere of civility and mutual 
respect across all interactions.  

     2 On 14 May 2024 the 
full Council considered 
and supported a 
motion relating to 
‘Debate Not Hate’. 
Members agreed that 
abuse of any sort was 
unacceptable, that 
behaviour in meetings 
and online should 
always be respectful 
and there should be 
less aggressive 
expression of opinions 
in writing, in the 
Council Chamber and 
especially on social 
media platforms.   
 
The Council’s adopted 
code of conduct and 
protocol on Member/ 
Officer relations further 
promote the principles 
of mutual respect, trust 
and courtesy. 

We have effectively communicated 
and equipped councillors to 
communicate clear expectations 
for interactions, wherever they take 
place, between councillors and the 
public that prioritise inclusive, 

 0       

Page 126



 

 

respectful, and constructive 

dialogue.  

We provide ongoing awareness 
campaigns and training initiatives 
to equip councillors and council 
staff with the skills to identify, 
address, and prevent abusive 
behaviour effectively, fostering a 
culture of accountability and 
support.  

   1     

We regularly evaluate our practices 
and procedures to ensure 
alignment with evolving standards 
and best practices, fostering a 
culture of continuous improvement 
and adaptation to effectively 
address abuse and intimidation 
within our organisation.  

     2  The Council’s 
constitution (which 
contains both the code 
of conduct and 
protocol on member/ 
officer relations) is the 
subject of regular 
review.  

 

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Annex 4 

Summary and forward plan  

  

Date of  assessment:   April 2025 
  

Total score  
  

Conducted by:    
 Adrian Stanfield, Monitoring Officer 

  
  
______________________________  Agreed review date (if applicable):   June 2026 

Principle  Score  Key gaps identified  Actions to progress  Updates    
Creating safe spaces   3 

  
Information is available to 
Members, but opportunities to 
openly discuss concerns are 
limited and unstructured 
No formal process is in 
place for Members 
No formal or structured 
process to get feedback from 
Members 
  

Provide structured 
opportunities for Members to 
discuss concerns 
Promote rather than signpost 
to support services 
Provide training to support 
relevant staff to identify 
signs of stress 
 

  

Creating a risk led approach   3 
  

No formal risk assessment tool 
is available for Members, nor 
any advice on specific risks 
arising out of an assessment 
(other than on an ad-hoc basis) 
There is no regular monitoring 
or review of risk 

Develop a risk assessment 
tool for Members 
Provide formal support 
opportunities for Members to 
receive feedback on risk 
assessments 
Provide training to support 
relevant staff to identify signs 
of stress 
 

  

Creating infrastructure   7 
  

Limited information provided to 
Members about available 
support and how the council 
will handle reports of abuse, 

Provision of a dedicated 
Councillor support page with 
details of contacts and how 

  

P
age 129



including communication 
channels and points of contact 
  

reports of abuse will be 
considered 

Creating connections    9  No key gaps identified 
  

Develop formal guidance for 
Members and Council staff on 
the role of the police in 
addressing abuse and the 
process for engaging with law 
enforcement agencies 

  

Creating a culture of safety and 
respect  

 6 No formal support offered to 
Members to communicate 
clear expectations for 
interactions with the public 

Provide all Members with 
access to the guidance and 
infographics developed by the 
Local Government Association 
under the ‘Digital Citizenship’ 
campaign. 

  

  

 

P
age 130



Annex 5 

Debate not hate – questions for survey 

1. Please amend the details we have on record if necessary. If you are a 
member of more than one council, please only complete this survey once. 

 Name 
 Authority 
 Email address 

2. Please indicate the type of council(s) of which you are a member. Select all 
that apply 

 District council 
 Town council 
 Parish/community council 

3. What is your political affiliation as a councillor? 

 Conservatives 
 Green Party 
 Independent Alliance 
 Labour 
 Liberal Democrats 

4. How long have you been serving as a councillor? 

 Less than one year  
 1 to <2 years 
 2 to <5 years 
 5 years or more 

5. How often, if at all, do you feel at risk personally when fulfilling your role as 
a councillor? 

 Frequently 
 Occasionally 
 Rarely 
 Never 

Ask those who have been serving for at least a year: 

6. How effective or not do you think are your authority’s arrangements for 
protecting you personally as you fulfil your role as a councillor? 

 Very effective 
 Fairly effective 
 Not very effective 
 Not at all effective 
 Don’t know 

Page 131



 

The following questions relate to whether you have experienced abuse or 
intimidation in your role as a councillor and/or as a candidate or campaigner at 
the most recent local and/or general electoral period. 

These terms are defined as follows: 

Abuse – words and/or behaviour that constitute abuse or mistreatment can include, 
but is not limited to, physical abuse, bullying, emotional abuse, unsolicited abusive 
communication, and harassment. It may be one-off or repeated. 

Intimidation – words and/or behaviour intended or likely to block, influence, or deter 
participation in public debate or causing alarm or distress, which could lead to an 
individual wanting to withdraw from public life. It may be one-off or repeated 
behaviour. 

7. How often, if at all, did you experience abuse or intimidation during the local 
election campaign period in 2023? 

 Frequently 
 Occasionally 
 Rarely 
 Never 

Ask those who have been serving for at least a year: 

8. Over the last twelve months, how often, if at all, have you experienced abuse 
or intimidation in your role as a councillor? 

 Frequently 
 Occasionally 
 Rarely 
 Never 

Show to respondents who answered rarely, frequently or occasionally at Q8: 

9. And thinking about the last twelve months, how has the volume of abuse 
and intimidation you have received in your role as a councillor changed? 

 It has sharply increased 
 It has slightly increased 
 It has stayed about the same 
 It has slightly decreased 
 It has sharply decreased 
 Don’t know 

10. Please give reasons for your answer. 

  

Page 132



 

11. Have you ever reported to the police an incident of abuse or intimidation 
you have experienced in your role as a councillor? 

 Yes 
 No 
 Do not wish to say 

12. Due to your role as a councillor, have you or a person closely connected 
with you ever experienced any of the following?  

For the purposes of this question, a person closely connected with you could be your 
immediate or extended family, your partner, or a close friend.  

 Threat of damage to property 
 Actual damage to property 
 Threat of violence 
 Actual violence 
 Threat of death 
 Other, please write in 
 None of the above 

  
 Against you 
 Against a person closely connected with you 

Protected characteristics are a list of characteristics, for which it is against the 
law to discriminate against someone under the Equality Act 2010. The 
protected characteristics are: 

 age 
 being married or in a civil partnership 
 being pregnant or on maternity leave 
 disability 
 gender reassignment 
 race including colour, nationality, ethnic or national origin 
 religion or belief 
 sex 
 sexual orientation 

More information about protected characteristics can be found on the Gov.UK 
Discrimination rights webpage. 

13. In your role as councillor, have you ever received abuse or intimidation 
relating to any of the protected characteristics above?  

This also includes abuse and intimidation relating to the perception that a protected 
characteristic applies to you, regardless of whether or not it does. 

 Yes 
 No 

Page 133

https://www.gov.uk/discrimination-your-rights
https://www.gov.uk/discrimination-your-rights


 

 Don’t know 
 Do not wish to say 

Ask those who had received abuse/intimidation relating to a protected characteristic: 

14. Which protected characteristic(s) was it related to? Select all that apply. 

 age 
 being married or in a civil partnership 
 being pregnant or on maternity leave 
 disability 
 gender reassignment 
 race including colour, nationality, ethnic or national origin 
 religion or belief 
 sex 
 sexual orientation 
 Do not wish to say  

15. If you would like to share more details about your experience(s), please 
use the space below.  

  

16. In your role as councillor, have you ever had a member of the public attend 
your home or threaten to attend your home in a way that you considered 
intimidatory or inappropriate? Select all that apply. 

 Yes – threatened to attend my home 
 Yes – attended my home 
 Yes – other form of contact at home 
 No 
 Don’t know 

Shown to respondents who answer yes (threat / actual / other) at Q16 

17. And was this… 

 One person acting alone 
 More than one person, each acting alone 
 A group of people, acting together 
 Other, please specify 
 Don’t know 

18. In your role as councillor, have you ever requested that your home address 
be withheld from the public register of interests? 

 Yes 
 No 
 Don’t know 

Page 134



 

 Prefer not to say 

Ask if respondent had not explicitly requested the withholding of their address 

19. Were you aware that your home address could be withheld from the public 
register of interests? 

 Yes 
 No 

20. And was your home address removed from the public register of interests? 

 Yes 
 No 
 Don’t know 

Ask if home address was not removed: 

21. Why was your home address not removed? 

  

22. Have you made modifications to your home security since becoming a 
councillor due to concerns you have about your security as an elected 
member? 

 Yes 
 No – But I feel I need them  
 No – I do not feel I need them 
 Prefer not to say 

Ask respondents who answered No – But I feel I need them: 

23. Why have you not made modifications to your home security despite 
feeling you need to? Select all that apply 

 I cannot afford them 
 I am not sure what I should get 
 Other, detail: 

Ask respondents who had made modifications: 

24. What modifications have you made? Select all that apply 

 Security lights 
 Camera doorbell 
 CCTV or other cameras 
 New locks 
 Panic button/alarm 

Page 135



 

 Installed an external post box 
 Home address flagged for police response 
 Other, please specify  
 Prefer not to say 

25. The LGA’s Debate Not Hate campaign aims to raise public awareness of 
the role of councillors and provides support for local politicians facing abuse 
and intimidation. Before this survey, had you heard of the Debate Not Hate 
campaign, or its slogan, “the right engagement matters”? 

 Yes 
 No 
 Don’t know 

26. Please use the space below to tell us anything more you’d like to about the 
safety of councillors, or civility in public life more generally. 

  

27. Please tick the box below if you would like to be involved in future work 
related to this area and/or the contents of this survey. 

[ ] I would like to be involved in further work 

Many thanks for taking the time to complete this survey. You are in control of any 
personal data that you have provided to us in your response. You can contact us at 
all times to have your information changed or deleted.  

 

Page 136



Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 

Page 137

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



The Chairman to move that the press and public be excluded from the remainder 
of the meeting during consideration of any items the publication of which would 
disclose exempt information. 

 

 

ANY REPORTS APPEARING AFTER THIS PAGE CONTAIN EXEMPT 
INFORMATION 

 

 

Page 139

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 

Page 141

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Guidance on the Conduct of Meetings
	3 Notification of Substitute Members
	4 Declarations of Interest
	5 Minutes
	6 Debate Not Hate
	Annex 1 - LGA Survey ‘Debate Not Hate’ Outcomes August 2024
	Debate Not Hate
	Contents
	Summary
	Background
	Key findings

	Introduction
	Methodology
	Debate Not Hate Survey 2024
	Councillor profiling
	Feeling at risk as a councillor
	Support from the local authority
	Abuse and intimidation during campaign periods
	Abuse and intimidation over the last 12 months
	Involvement of the police
	Experiences of damage and violence
	Protected characteristics
	Contact at home
	Home address in public domain
	Home modifications
	Awareness of the Debate Not Hate campaign
	Further comments

	Annex A: Questionnaire


	Annex 2 - LGA publication ‘Debate Not Hate: Ending abuse in public life for Councillors’
	Annex 3 - LGA toolkit ‘Ending abuse in public life self-assessment’
	Annex 4 - Summary and Forward Plan
	Annex 5 - Debate Not Hate - Survey questions

	7 Urgent Items
	8 Exclusion of Press and Public
	9 Urgent Items

